

#### May 2007

To: Members of the Hong Kong Institute of CPAs All other interested parties

## INVITATION TO COMMENT ON IAASB EXPOSURE DRAFTS OF INTERNATIONAL STANDARDS ON AUDITING

### Part A

- Proposed ISA 250 (Redrafted), The Auditor's Responsibilities Relating to Laws and Regulations in an Audit of Financial Statements

Comments to be received by 13 July 2007

### Part B

- Proposed ISA 200 (Revised and Redrafted), Overall
   Objective of the Independent Auditor, and the Conduct of
   an Audit in Accordance with International Standards on
   Auditing
- Proposed ISA 500 (Redrafted), Considering the Relevance and Reliability of Audit Evidence

Comments to be received by 31 August 2007

The Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants' (Institute) Auditing and Assurance Standards Committee is seeking comments on the IAASB Exposure Drafts which have been posted on the Institute's website at: <a href="https://www.hkicpa.org.hk/professionaltechnical/assurance/exposuredraft/">www.hkicpa.org.hk/professionaltechnical/assurance/exposuredraft/</a>.

The Explanatory Memorandum to the Exposure Drafts provides background information and explanation of the proposed ISAs.

In summary, the IAASB's intentions in developing the revisions to the ISAs are set out below:

#### **ISA 250**

The proposed ISA 250 is redrafted to contain clearer requirements and easy to understand application guidance with no changes proposed to the requirements in the standard. The IAASB is seeking comments **only** on changes resulting from applying the clarity drafting conventions and their effect on the content of the ISA.

Fax傳真: (852) 2865 6776

(852) 2865 6603

Tel電話: (852) 2287 7228 Website網址: www.hkicpa.org.hk

Email電郵: hkicpa@hkicpa.org.hk



#### **ISA 200**

The proposed ISA 200 is revised and redrafted to:

- include an adequate discussion of the premises on which an audit is conducted;
- contain a brief summary of the nature of an audit of financial statements in order to introduce related concepts to provide a proper understanding of the conduct of an audit so as to achieve its objective, the overall objective of the independent auditor, and the objectives and requirements stated in the ISAs;
- incorporate the relevant provisions of the Preface to the International Standards on Quality Control, Auditing, Review, Other Assurance and Related Services (Preface) reissued in January 2007 to reflect the effect of the new drafting conventions being used for the purposes of ISAs; and
- reposition a requirement for the auditor to obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence from extant ISA 500 Audit Evidence to the proposed ISA 200.

#### **ISA 500**

The proposed ISA 500 is redrafted to contain clearer requirements and easy to understand application guidance, with no changes proposed to the requirements in the standard except for:

- the removal of the requirement for the auditor to obtain sufficient appropriate evidence from extant ISA 500 to the proposed ISA 200 (Revised and Redrafted). As a result of the repositioning of this requirement, the proposed ISA 500 focuses on the auditor's responsibility to design and perform audit procedures to obtain relevant and reliable audit evidence. The proposed ISA has been re-titled accordingly; and
- the move of material regarding selecting all items and selecting specific items in relation to gathering of audit evidence from the extant ISA 530 Audit Sampling and Other Means of Testing to the proposed ISA 500 in order to provide a clear focus on sampling in ISA 530. The IAASB plans to release the proposed ISA 530 (Redrafted) before the close of the comment period for the proposed ISA 500.

In accordance with the Institute's ISA Convergence Due Process, comments are invited from any interested party and the Institute would like to hear from both those who do agree and those who do not agree with the proposals contained in the IAASB Exposure Drafts.

Comments should be supported by specific reasoning and should be submitted in written form.

To allow your comments on the IAASB Exposure Drafts to be considered, comments on the exposure draft of proposed redrafted ISA 250 are requested to be received by the Institute on or before 13 July 2007. Comments on the exposure drafts of proposed revised and redrafted ISA 200 and proposed redrafted ISA 500 are requested to be received by the Institute on or before 31 August 2007.



Comments may be sent by mail, fax or e-mail to:

Patricia McBride Executive Director Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants 37/F., Wu Chung House 213 Queen's Road East Hong Kong

Fax number (+852) 2865 6776

E-mail: commentletters@hkicpa.org.hk

Comments will be acknowledged and may be made available for public review unless otherwise requested by the contributor.

## **PART A**

Response Due Date 13 July 2007

ED of Proposed ISA 250 (Redrafted)

## The Auditor's Responsibilities Relating to Laws and Regulations in an Audit of Financial Statements

PART B

Response Due Date 31 August 2007

ED of Proposed ISA 200 (Revised and Redrafted)

Overall Objective of the Independent Auditor, and the Conduct of an Audit in Accordance with International Standards on Auditing

ED of Proposed ISA 500 (Redrafted)

Considering the Relevance and Reliability of Audit Evidence



#### **CONTENTS**

#### Part A

ED of Proposed ISA 250 (Redrafted) "The Auditor's Responsibilities Relating to Laws and Regulations in an Audit of Financial Statements"

#### Part B

ED of Proposed ISA 200 (Revised and Redrafted) "Overall Objective of the Independent Auditor, and the Conduct of an Audit in Accordance with International standards on Auditing"

ED of Proposed ISA 500 (Redrafted) "Considering the Relevance and Reliability of Audit Evidence"

**IAASB** Press release

This Exposure Draft may be filed in the "Exposure Drafts, Invitations to Comment" section of Volume III of the Institute Members' Handbook.

The Exposure Draft can also be found on the Institute's website at: <a href="https://www.hkicpa.org.hk/professionaltechnical/assurance/exposuredraft/">www.hkicpa.org.hk/professionaltechnical/assurance/exposuredraft/</a>.

International
Auditing
and Assurance
Standards Board

**Exposure Draft** 

April 2007 Comments are requested by July 31, 2007

Proposed Redrafted International Standard on Auditing

ISA 250, The Auditor's Responsibilities Relating to Laws and Regulations in an Audit of Financial Statements



International Federation of Accountants

#### **REQUEST FOR COMMENTS**

The International Auditing and Assurance Standards Board (IAASB), an independent standard-setting body within the International Federation of Accountants (IFAC), approved the exposure draft, proposed International Standard on Auditing (ISA) 250 (Redrafted), "The Auditor's Responsibilities Relating to Laws and Regulations in an Audit of Financial Statements," for publication in April 2007. This proposed ISA may be modified in light of comments received before being issued in final form.

Please submit your comments, preferably by email, so that they will be received by **July 31, 2007**. All comments will be considered a matter of public record. Comments should be addressed to:

International Auditing and Assurance Standards Board
International Federation of Accountants
545 Fifth Avenue, 14<sup>th</sup> Floor
New York, New York 10017 USA

Comments should be emailed to Edcomments@ifac.org. They may also be faxed to +1-212-286-9570 or mailed to the above address.

Copies of the exposure draft may be downloaded free-of-charge from the IFAC website at http://www.ifac.org.

Copyright © April 2007 by the International Federation of Accountants. All rights reserved. Permission is granted to make copies of this work to achieve maximum exposure and feedback provided that each copy bears the following credit line: "Copyright © April 2007 by the International Federation of Accountants. All rights reserved. Used with permission."

## **CONTENTS**

	Page
Explanatory Memorandum	4
Introduction	4
Background	4
Effective Date	4
Guide for Respondents	4
Supplement to the Exposure Draft	5
Exposure Draft	
Proposed International Standard on Auditing (ISA) 250 (Redrafted), "The Auditor's Responsibilities Relating to Laws and Regulations in an Audit of Financial Statements"	6

#### EXPLANATORY MEMORANDUM

#### Introduction

This memorandum provides background to proposed International Standard on Auditing (ISA) 250 (Redrafted), "The Auditor's Responsibilities Relating to Laws and Regulations in an Audit of Financial Statements." The proposed ISA has been redrafted in accordance with conventions agreed by the International Auditing and Assurance Standards Board (IAASB) to be applied to all ISAs. The IAASB approved the proposed redrafted ISA for exposure in April 2007.

## **Background**

As part of its project to improve the clarity of its International Standards, the IAASB has undertaken to redraft all of its ISAs in accordance with its new clarity drafting conventions. This approach responds to the desire for all ISAs to be consistently drafted, and subject to a single statement of their authority and effect. The IAASB has agreed, in response to the general call for the Clarity project to be completed within a reasonable time, that while a significant number of the ISAs are under substantive revision as well as redrafting to reflect the new conventions, others will be subject to a limited redrafting to reflect only the conventions and matters of clarity generally. ISA 250 is in the latter category.

The conventions used by the IAASB in redrafting ISA 250 for exposure, and the authority and obligation attaching to those conventions, are established in the amended "Preface to the International Standards on Quality Control, Auditing, Review, Other Assurance and Related Services" (Preface), approved by the IAASB in September 2006.

#### **Effective Date**

The current timetable envisages that all ISAs will have been revised and redrafted, or redrafted only, by late 2008 and the IAASB has provisionally agreed that the complete set of ISAs will be effective for audits of financial statements for periods beginning on or after December 15, 2008. This date will depend on satisfactory progress being made, and will be amended to a later date should that prove necessary. The IAASB believes that it is in the interests of auditors and others who use the ISAs that the standards should be released as soon as they are approved so as to facilitate their implementation.

## **Guide for Respondents**

The IAASB is seeking comments **only** on changes resulting from applying the clarity drafting conventions and their effect on the content of the ISA. Respondents are asked to respond in particular to the following questions:

1. Are the objectives to be achieved by the auditor, stated in the proposed redrafted ISA, appropriate?

The Preface can be accessed at http://web.ifac.org/download/IAASB Preface.pdf.

2. Have the criteria identified by the IAASB for determining whether a requirement should be specified been applied appropriately and consistently, such that the resulting requirements promote consistency in performance and the use of professional judgment by auditors?<sup>2</sup>

Comments are most helpful when they refer to specific paragraphs, include the reasons for the comments, and, where appropriate, make specific suggestions for any proposed changes to wording. When a respondent agrees with proposals in the exposure draft, it will be helpful for the IAASB to be made aware of this view.

#### **Translations**

Recognizing that many respondents intend to translate the final ISA for adoption in their own environments, the IAASB welcomes comment on potential translation issues noted in reviewing the proposed redrafted ISA.

## **Supplement to the Exposure Draft**

To assist respondents in tracking changes, IAASB staff has prepared an analysis of the decisions that have been made by the IAASB with respect to the treatment of the present tense in the explanatory paragraphs of the extant ISA. This analysis also demonstrates how the material in the extant ISA has been reflected in the proposed redrafted ISA. In particular, the analysis:

- Identifies existing sentences in the present tense and whether they are now treated as a requirement or as application material;
- Maps the material of the extant ISA to the proposed redrafted ISA; and
- Identifies explanatory material that is proposed to be eliminated as a result of redrafting.

These staff-prepared mapping documents are available on the IAASB website at http://www.ifac.org/Guidance/EXD-Details.php?EDID=0081. They are for information purposes only and do not form part of the exposure draft.

To be considered, responses should be emailed to Edcomments@ifac.org. They may also be faxed to +1-212-286-9570 or mailed to 545 Fifth Avenue, 14th Floor, New York, NY 10017, USA.

• The requirement is necessary to achieve the objective stated in the Standard;

• The requirement is expected to be applicable in virtually all engagements to which the Standard is relevant; and

• The objective stated in the Standard is unlikely to have been met by the requirements of other Standards.

In determining the requirements of a Standard, the IAASB will consider whether the requirements are proportionate to the importance of the subject matter of the Standard in relation to the overall objective of the engagement.

The criteria, which are intended only to assist the IAASB in appropriately and consistently determining requirements, may be refined as further experience is gained.

5

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> The IAASB has identified the following criteria for determining the requirements of a Standard:

## PROPOSED INTERNATIONAL STANDARD ON AUDITING 250 (REDRAFTED)

## THE AUDITOR'S RESPONSIBILITIES RELATING TO LAWS AND REGULATIONS IN AN AUDIT OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(Effective for audits of financial statements for periods beginning on or after [date])\*

#### **CONTENTS**

	Paragraph
Introduction	<b>C</b> 1
Scope of this ISA	1-6
Effective Date	7
Objectives	8
Definition	9
Requirements	
The Auditor's Consideration of Compliance with Laws and Regulations	10-15
Audit Procedures when Non-Compliance is Identified or Suspected	16-20
Reporting of Non-Compliance	21-27
Documentation	28
Application and Other Explanatory Material	
Responsibility for Compliance with Laws and Regulations	A1-A5
The Auditor's Consideration of Compliance with Laws and Regulations	A6-A11
Audit Procedures when Non-Compliance is Identified or Suspected	A12-A18
Reporting of Non-Compliance	A19-A21
Documentation	A22

International Standard on Auditing (ISA) 250 (Redrafted), "The Auditor's Responsibilities Relating to Laws and Regulations in an Audit of Financial Statements" should be read in the context of the "Preface to the International Standards on Quality Control, Auditing, Review, Other Assurance and Related Services," which sets out the authority of ISAs.

\_

<sup>\*</sup> See footnote 1.

#### Introduction

## Scope of this ISA

1. This International Standard on Auditing (ISA) deals with the auditor's responsibilities relating to laws and regulations when performing an audit of financial statements. This ISA does not apply to other assurance engagements in which the auditor is specifically engaged to test and report separately on compliance with specific laws or regulations.

#### Nature of Laws and Regulations

2. The impact on financial statements of laws and regulations varies considerably. Those laws and regulations to which an entity is subject constitute the legal and regulatory framework. Some laws or regulations determine the form or content of an entity's financial statements or the amounts to be recorded or the disclosures to be made in financial statements. Other laws or regulations are to be complied with by management or set the provisions under which the entity is allowed to conduct its business. Some entities operate in heavily regulated industries (such as banks and chemical companies). Others are only subject to the many laws and regulations that relate generally to the operating aspects of the business (such as those related to occupational safety and health, and equal employment opportunity). Non-compliance with laws and regulations may result in financial consequences for the entity such as fines and litigation.

#### Responsibility of Management for Compliance with Laws and Regulations

3. It is the responsibility of management, with the oversight of those charged with governance, to ensure that the entity's operations are conducted in accordance with laws and regulations, including compliance with laws and regulations that determine the form or content of the entity's financial statements. This includes responsibility for the prevention and detection of non-compliance with laws and regulations. (Ref: Para. A1-A2)

#### Responsibility of the Auditor

- 4. The requirements in this ISA are designed to assist the auditor in identifying material misstatements of the financial statements due to non-compliance with laws and regulations. However, the auditor is not, and cannot be held, responsible for preventing non-compliance.
- 5. An auditor conducting an audit in accordance with ISAs is responsible for obtaining reasonable assurance that the financial statements, taken as a whole, are free from material misstatement, whether caused by fraud or error. In conducting an audit of financial statements, the auditor has regard to the applicable legal and regulatory framework. Owing to the inherent limitations of an audit, as described in [proposed] ISA 200 (Revised and Redrafted), "Overall Objective of the Independent Auditor, and the Conduce of an Audit in Accordance with International Standards on Auditing," there is an unavoidable risk that some material misstatements of the financial statements will not be detected, even though the audit is properly planned and performed in accordance with the ISAs. This unavoidable risk may be higher, with regard to material misstatements resulting from non-compliance with laws and regulations, due to factors such as the following:

- There are many laws and regulations, relating principally to the operating aspects of an entity, that typically do not affect the financial statements and are not captured by the entity's information systems relevant to financial reporting.
- Much of the audit evidence obtained by the auditor is persuasive rather than conclusive in nature.
- Non-compliance may involve conduct designed to conceal it, such as collusion, forgery, deliberate failure to record transactions, management override of controls or intentional misrepresentations being made to the auditor.
- Whether an act constitutes non-compliance is ultimately a matter for legal determination by a court of law.

Generally, the further removed non-compliance is from the events and transactions reflected in the financial statements, the less likely the auditor is to become aware of it or to recognize the possible non-compliance.

- 6. Owing to the difficulties referred to above, this ISA distinguishes the auditor's responsibilities in relation to compliance with different categories of laws and regulations as follows:
  - (a) Those laws and regulations generally recognized by the auditor to have a direct effect on the determination of material amounts and disclosures in the financial statements; such laws and regulations include income tax and pensions law and regulations (see paragraphs 11 and A7); and
  - (b) Other laws and regulations that do not have a direct effect on the determination of the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements, but compliance with which may be fundamental to an entity's ability to continue its business or to avoid material penalties (for example, the terms of an operating license or compliance with regulatory solvency requirements); non-compliance with such laws and regulations may therefore have a material effect on the financial statements (see paragraphs 12 and A8).

Specific, but differing requirements are specified for each category of laws and regulations. The auditor is also required to remain alert to the possibility that other audit procedures applied for the purpose of forming an opinion on financial statements may bring instances of possible non-compliance to the auditor's attention (see paragraph 13). Maintaining an attitude of professional skepticism throughout the audit, as required by [proposed] ISA 200 (Revised and Redrafted), is important in this context, given the extent of laws and regulations that affect the operations of an entity. (Ref: Para. A3-A5)

#### **Effective Date**

7. This ISA is effective for audits of financial statements for periods beginning on or after [date].<sup>3</sup>

This date will not be earlier than December 15, 2008.

## **Objectives**

- 8. The objectives of the auditor are:
  - (a) To obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence that the financial statements are not materially misstated due to non-compliance with laws and regulations that have a direct effect on the determination of material amounts and disclosures in the financial statements:
  - (b) To perform specified procedures to help identify instances of non-compliance with other laws and regulations that may have a material effect on the financial statements; and
  - (c) To respond appropriately to identified or suspected non-compliance with laws and regulations.

#### **Definition**

9. For the purposes of this ISA, the term 'non-compliance' refers to acts of omission or commission by the entity being audited, either intentional or unintentional, which are contrary to the prevailing laws or regulations. Such acts include transactions entered into by, or in the name of, the entity, or on its behalf, by those charged with governance, management or employees. Non-compliance does not include personal misconduct (unrelated to the business activities of the entity) by those charged with governance, management or employees of the entity.

## Requirements

#### The Auditor's Consideration of Compliance with Laws and Regulations

- 10. When obtaining an understanding of the entity, the auditor shall obtain a general understanding of:
  - (a) The legal and regulatory framework applicable to the entity and the industry or sector in which the entity operates; and
  - (b) How the entity is complying with that framework. (Ref: Para A6-A8)
- 11. After obtaining the above general understanding, the auditor shall obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding compliance with those laws and regulations generally recognized by the auditor to have a direct effect on the determination of material amounts and disclosures in the financial statements.
- 12. In addition, the auditor shall perform the following audit procedures to help identify instances of non-compliance with other laws and regulations that may have a material effect on the financial statements:
  - (a) Inquiring of management and, where appropriate, those charged with governance, as to whether the entity is in compliance with such laws and regulations; and
  - (b) Inspecting correspondence with the relevant licensing or regulatory authorities. (Ref: Para A9)

- 13. During the audit, the auditor shall be alert to the possibility that other audit procedures applied may bring instances of possible non-compliance with laws and regulations to the auditor's attention. (Ref: Para. A10)
- 14. The auditor shall request management, and where appropriate, those charged with governance, to provide written representations that all known actual or possible non-compliance with laws and regulations whose effects should be considered when preparing financial statements have been disclosed to the auditor. (Ref: Para. A11)
- 15. In the absence of identified or suspected non-compliance, the auditor is not required to perform audit procedures regarding the entity's compliance with laws and regulations, other than those set out in paragraphs 10 to 14.

#### Audit Procedures when Non-Compliance is Identified or Suspected

- 16. When the auditor becomes aware of information concerning a possible instance of non-compliance, the auditor shall obtain:
  - (a) An understanding of the nature of the act and the circumstances in which it has occurred; and
  - (b) Further information to evaluate the possible effect on the financial statements. (Ref: Para. A12-A13)
- 17. When the auditor believes there may be non-compliance, the auditor shall discuss the matter with management and, where appropriate, those charged with governance. (Ref: Para. A14)
- 18. When management, or as appropriate those charged with governance, do not provide information that supports that the entity is in compliance with laws and regulations and, in the auditor's judgment, the effect of non-compliance may be material to the financial statements, the auditor shall assess the need to obtain legal advice concerning possible non-compliance. (Ref: Para. A15)
- 19. When sufficient information about suspected non-compliance cannot be obtained, the auditor shall evaluate the effect of the lack of sufficient appropriate audit evidence on the auditor's opinion.
- 20. The auditor shall evaluate the implications of non-compliance in relation to other aspects of the audit, including the auditor's risk assessment and the reliability of written representations, and take appropriate action. (Ref: Para. A16-A18)

## **Reporting of Non-Compliance**

Reporting Non-Compliance to Those Charged with Governance

21. Unless all of those charged with governance are involved in management of the entity, and therefore are aware of matters<sup>4</sup> involving non-compliance already communicated by the auditor, the auditor shall communicate with those charged with governance:

In accordance with [proposed] ISA 260 (Revised and Redrafted), "Communication with Those Charged with Governance," where all of those charged with governance are also involved in managing the entity, when matters

- (a) Any significant matters involving non-compliance with laws and regulations that have a material effect on the financial statements, and
- (b) Any other matters involving non-compliance with laws and regulations that come to the auditor's attention, other than when the matters are clearly inconsequential.
- 22. If in the auditor's judgment the non-compliance referred to in paragraph 21 is believed to be intentional, the auditor shall communicate the matter to those charged with governance as soon as practicable.
- 23. If the auditor suspects that management or those charged with governance are involved in non-compliance, the auditor shall communicate the matter to the next higher level of authority at the entity, if it exists, such as an audit committee or supervisory board. Where no higher authority exists, or if the auditor believes that the communication may not be acted upon or is unsure as to the person to whom to report, the auditor shall assess the need to obtain legal advice.

#### Reporting Non-Compliance to the Users of the Auditor's Report on the Financial Statements

- 24. If the auditor concludes that the non-compliance has a material effect on the financial statements, and has not been adequately reflected in the financial statements, the auditor shall modify the audit opinion so as to express a qualified or an adverse opinion in accordance with [proposed] ISA 705 (Revised and Redrafted), "Modifications to the Opinion in the Independent Auditor's Report."
- 25. If the auditor is precluded by the entity from obtaining sufficient appropriate audit evidence to evaluate whether non-compliance that may be material to the financial statements has, or is likely to have, occurred, the auditor shall express a qualified opinion or a disclaimer of opinion on the financial statements on the basis of a limitation on the scope of the audit in accordance with [proposed] ISA 705 (Revised and Redrafted).
- 26. If the auditor is unable to determine whether non-compliance has occurred because of limitations imposed by the circumstances rather than by the entity, in accordance with [proposed] ISA 705 (Revised and Redrafted) the auditor shall evaluate the effect on the audit opinion.

#### Reporting Non-Compliance to Regulatory and Enforcement Authorities

27. If the auditor has identified or suspects non-compliance with laws and regulations, the auditor shall determine whether there is a responsibility to report the identified or suspected non-compliance to a party outside the entity. Although the auditor's professional duty to maintain the confidentiality of client information may ordinarily preclude such reporting, the

are communicated with person(s) with management responsibilities, and those person(s) also have governance responsibilities, the matter need not be communicated again with those same person(s) in their governance role.

The IAASB has a project in progress to revise extant ISA 701, "Modifications to the Independent Auditor's Report."
Where this Exposure Draft refers to proposed draft wording under consideration at present, the IAASB will consider the need for modification of the wording of this ISA as part of the deliberations relating to the future exposure and finalization of proposed ISA 705 (Revised and Redrafted).

auditor's legal responsibilities may override the duty of confidentiality in some circumstances. (Ref: Para. A19-A21)

#### **Documentation**

28. The auditor shall document identified or suspected non-compliance with laws and regulations and the results of discussion with management, and where applicable, those charged with governance and other parties outside the entity. (Ref: Para. A22)

\*\*\*

## **Application and Other Explanatory Material**

#### Responsibility for Compliance with Laws and Regulations

Responsibility of Management for Compliance with Laws and Regulations (Ref: Para. 3)

- A1. Management, with the oversight of those charged with governance, is responsible for ensuring that the entity's operations are conducted in accordance with laws and regulations. Laws and regulations may affect an entity's financial statements in different ways: for example, most directly, they may affect specific disclosures required of the entity in the financial statements. They may also establish certain legal rights and obligations of the entity, some of which will be recognized in an entity's financial statements. In addition, laws and regulations may impose penalties in cases of non-compliance.
- A2. The following policies and procedures, among others, may assist those charged with governance and management in discharging their responsibilities for the prevention and detection of non-compliance:
  - Monitoring legal requirements and ensuring that operating procedures are designed to meet these requirements.
  - Instituting and operating appropriate internal control.
  - Developing, publicizing and following a code of conduct.
  - Ensuring employees are properly trained and understand the code of conduct.
  - Monitoring compliance with the code of conduct and acting appropriately to discipline employees who fail to comply with it.
  - Engaging legal advisors to assist in monitoring legal requirements.
  - Maintaining a register of significant laws with which the entity has to comply within its particular industry and a record of complaints.

In larger entities, these policies and procedures may be supplemented by assigning appropriate responsibilities to the following:

- An internal audit function.
- An audit committee.
- A compliance function.

Responsibility of the Auditor (Ref: Para. 4-6)

- A3. Non-compliance by the entity with laws and regulations may result in a material misstatement of the financial statements. However, an audit cannot be expected to detect non-compliance with all laws and regulations. Detection of non-compliance, regardless of materiality, may affect other aspects of the audit, including for example, the auditor's consideration of the integrity of management or employees.
- A4. Whether an act constitutes non-compliance is a matter for legal determination, which is ordinarily beyond the auditor's professional competence to determine. However, the auditor's training, experience and understanding of the entity and its industry or sector may provide a basis to recognize that some acts, coming to the auditor's attention, may constitute non-compliance with laws and regulations. Determining whether a particular act constitutes or is likely to constitute non-compliance is generally based on the advice of an informed expert qualified to practice law but ultimately can only be determined by a court of law.
- A5. In accordance with specific statutory requirements, the auditor may be specifically required to report, as part of the audit of the financial statements, on whether the entity complies with certain provisions of laws or regulations. In these circumstances, ISA 700, "The Independent Auditor's Report on General Purpose Financial Statements" deals with how these audit responsibilities are addressed in the auditor's report. Furthermore, where there are specific statutory reporting requirements, it may be necessary for the audit plan to include appropriate tests for compliance with these provisions of the laws and regulations.

## The Auditor's Consideration of Compliance with Laws and Regulations (Ref: Para. 10-15)

Obtaining an Understanding of the Legal and Regulatory Framework

- A6. To obtain the general understanding of the legal and regulatory framework and how the entity complies with that framework, the auditor may, for example:
  - Use the existing understanding of the entity's industry, regulatory and other external factors;
  - Inquire of management concerning the entity's policies and procedures regarding compliance with laws and regulations;
  - Inquire of management as to the laws or regulations that may be expected to have a fundamental effect on the operations of the entity and its financial statements; and
  - Inquire of management regarding the policies or procedures adopted for identifying, evaluating and accounting for litigation claims.
- A7. Certain laws and regulations are well-established, known to the entity and within the industry or sector, and relevant to the entity's financial statements. They could include those that relate to, for example:

\_

ISA 700, "The Independent Auditor's Report on a Complete Set of General Purpose Financial Statements" amended as a result of ISA 800 (Revised), "Special Considerations—Audits of Special Purpose Financial Statements and Specific Elements, Accounts or Items of a Financial Statement." The close off document of ISA 800 (Revised) was approved in October 2006.

- The form and content of financial statements;
- Industry specific financial reporting issues;
- Accounting for transactions under government contracts; or
- The accrual or recognition of expenses for income tax or pensions costs.

Some matters may be relevant to specific assertions (for example, the completeness of income tax provisions), while others may be relevant to the financial statements as a whole (for example, the required statements constituting a complete set of financial statements). Other ISAs address the auditor's responsibilities in relation to obtaining sufficient appropriate audit evidence about whether the financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the financial reporting framework, which includes laws and regulations that form part of that framework.

A8. Certain other laws and regulations may need particular attention by the auditor because they have a fundamental effect on the operations of the entity. Non-compliance with laws and regulations that have a fundamental effect on the operations of the entity may cause the entity to cease operations, or call into question the entity's continuance as a going concern. For example, non-compliance with the requirements of the entity's license or other entitlement to perform its operations could have such an impact (for example, for a bank, non-compliance with capital or investment requirements). There are also many laws and regulations relating principally to the operating aspects of the entity that typically do not affect the financial statements.

## Procedures to Identify Instances of Non-Compliance

A9. As the financial reporting consequences of other laws and regulations (i.e., laws and regulations other than those generally recognized to have a direct effect on the determination of material amounts and disclosures in financial statements) can vary depending on the entity's operations, the audit procedures required by paragraph 12 are directed to bringing instances of possible non-compliance with laws and regulations that may have a material effect on the financial statements to the auditor's attention.

#### Non-Compliance Brought to Notice by Other Audit Procedures

- A10. Audit procedures applied to form an opinion on the financial statements may bring instances of possible non-compliance with laws and regulations to the auditor's attention. For example, such audit procedures may include:
  - Reading minutes;
  - Inquiring of the entity's management and legal counsel concerning litigation, claims and assessments; and
  - Performing substantive tests of details of classes of transactions, account balances or disclosures.

#### Written Representations

A11. Because the impact on financial statements of laws and regulations can vary considerably, written representations provide audit evidence about management's knowledge of actual or suspected non-compliance with laws and regulations, whose effects may have a material effect on the financial statements. However, of themselves, written representations do not provide sufficient appropriate audit evidence and, accordingly, do not relieve the auditor of the responsibility to obtain other audit evidence.

#### Audit Procedures when Non-Compliance is Identified or Suspected (Ref: Para. 16-20)

- A12. When the auditor becomes aware of either the existence of, or information about, the following matters, it may be an indication of non-compliance with laws and regulations:
  - Investigation by regulatory organizations and government departments or payment of fines or penalties.
  - Payments for unspecified services or loans to consultants, related parties, employees or government employees.
  - Sales commissions or agent's fees that appear excessive in relation to those ordinarily paid by the entity or in its industry or to the services actually received.
  - Purchasing at prices significantly above or below market price.
  - Unusual payments in cash, purchases in the form of cashiers' checks payable to bearer or transfers to numbered bank accounts.
  - Unusual transactions with companies registered in tax havens.
  - Payments for goods or services made other than to the country from which the goods or services originated.
  - Payments without proper exchange control documentation.
  - Existence of an information system which fails, whether by design or by accident, to provide an adequate audit trail or sufficient evidence.
  - Unauthorized transactions or improperly recorded transactions.
  - Adverse media comment.
- A13. Matters relevant to the auditor's evaluation of the possible effect on the financial statements include:
  - The potential financial consequences of possible non-compliance with laws and regulations on the financial statements, including the imposition of fines, penalties, damages, threat of expropriation of assets, enforced discontinuation of operations and litigation.
  - Whether the potential financial consequences require disclosure.

- Whether the potential financial consequences are so serious as to call into question the fair presentation of the financial statements, or otherwise make the financial statements misleading.
- A14. The auditor may discuss the findings with those charged with governance where they may be able to provide additional audit evidence. For example, the auditor may confirm that those charged with governance have the same understanding of the facts and circumstances relevant to transactions or events that have led to the possibility of non-compliance with laws and regulations.
- A15. If management, or as appropriate those charged with governance, do not provide information to the auditor that the entity is in fact in compliance with laws and regulations, the auditor may consider whether to consult with the entity's lawyer about the application of the laws and regulations to the circumstances, including the possibility of fraud, and the possible effects on the financial statements. When it is not considered appropriate to consult with the entity's lawyer or when the auditor is not satisfied with the lawyer's opinion, the auditor may consider it appropriate to consult the auditor's own lawyer as to whether a contravention of a law or regulation is involved, the possible legal consequences, including the possibility of fraud, and what further action, if any, the auditor would take.
- A16. As required by paragraph 20, the auditor reconsiders the risk assessment and the reliability of written representations in case of non-compliance not detected by the entity's internal controls or not included in written representations by management. The implications of particular instances of non-compliance identified by the auditor will depend on the relationship of the perpetration and concealment, if any, of the act to specific control activities and the level of management or employees involved, especially implications arising from the involvement of the highest authority within the entity.
- A17. In exceptional cases the auditor may consider whether, unless prohibited by law or regulation, withdrawal from the engagement is necessary when the entity does not take the remedial action that the auditor considers necessary in the circumstances, even when the non-compliance is not material to the financial statements. When deciding whether withdrawal from the engagement is necessary the auditor may consider seeking legal advice.

#### Considerations Specific to Public Sector Entities

A18. In the public sector, withdrawal from the engagement may not be an option. In such cases, the auditor may consider alternative actions, including describing the non-compliance in an Other Matter(s) paragraph in the auditor's report.<sup>7</sup>

16

The IAASB has a project in progress to revise extant ISA 701, "Modifications to the Independent Auditor's Report." Where this Exposure Draft refers to proposed draft wording under consideration at present, the IAASB will consider the need for modification of the wording of this ISA as part of the deliberations relating to the future exposure and finalization of proposed ISA 706 (Revised and Redrafted), "Emphasis of Matter Paragraphs and Other Matter(s) Paragraphs in the Independent Auditor's Report."

#### Reporting of Non-Compliance (Ref: Para. 21-27)

Reporting Non-Compliance to Regulatory and Enforcement Authorities

- A19. The auditor's professional duty to maintain the confidentiality of client information may preclude reporting identified or suspected non-compliance with laws and regulations to a party outside the entity. However, the auditor's legal responsibilities vary by country and, in certain circumstances, the duty of confidentiality may be overridden by statute, the law or courts of law. In some countries, the auditor of a financial institution has a statutory duty to report the occurrence, or suspected occurrence, of non-compliance with laws and regulations to supervisory authorities. Also, in some countries the auditor has a duty to report misstatements to authorities in those cases where management and those charged with governance fail to take corrective action.
- A20. The auditor may consider it appropriate to obtain legal advice to determine the appropriate course of action in the circumstances, the purpose of which is to ascertain the steps necessary in considering the public interest aspects of identified or suspected non-compliance with laws and regulations.

#### Considerations Specific to Public Sector Entities

A21. Many public sector engagements may include additional audit responsibilities with respect to consideration of laws and regulations, which may relate to the audit of financial statements or extend to other aspects of the entity's operations. A public sector auditor may be obliged to report on instances of non-compliance to governing authorities or to report them in the audit report.

#### **Documentation** (Ref: Para. 28)

- A22. The auditor's documentation of findings regarding identified or suspected non-compliance with laws and regulations may include for example:
  - Copies of records or documents; and
  - Minutes of discussions held with management or those charged with governance or parties outside the entity.



International
Auditing
and Assurance
Standards Board

**Exposure Draft** 

April 2007

Comments are requested by September 15, 2007

Proposed Revised and Redrafted International Standard on Auditing

ISA 200, Overall Objective of the Independent Auditor, and the Conduct of an Audit in Accordance with International Standards on Auditing



International Federation of Accountants

## REQUEST FOR COMMENTS

The International Auditing and Assurance Standards Board (IAASB), an independent standard-setting body within the International Federation of Accountants (IFAC), approved the exposure draft, proposed International Standard on Auditing (ISA) 200 (Revised and Redrafted), "Overall Objective of the Independent Auditor, and the Conduct of an Audit in Accordance with International Standards on Auditing," for publication in April 2007. The proposed ISA may be modified in light of comments received before being issued in final form.

Please submit your comments, preferably by e-mail, so that they will be received by **September 15**, **2007**. All comments will be considered a matter of public record. Comments should be addressed to:

International Federation of Accountants 545 Fifth Avenue, 14<sup>th</sup> Floor New York, New York 10017 USA

Comments should be emailed to Edcomments@ifac.org. They may also be faxed to +1-212-286-9570 or mailed to the above address.

Copies of the exposure drafts may be downloaded free-of-charge from the IFAC website at http://www.ifac.org.

Copyright © April 2007 by the International Federation of Accountants. All rights reserved. Permission is granted to make copies of this work to achieve maximum exposure and feedback provided that each copy bears the following credit line: "Copyright © April 2007 by the International Federation of Accountants. All rights reserved. Used with permission."

## **CONTENTS**

	Page
Explanatory Memorandum	4
Introduction	4
Background	4
Significant Proposals	5
Effective Date	8
Guide for Respondents	8
Supplement to the Exposure Draft	9
Exposure Draft	
Proposed International Standard on Auditing (ISA) 200 (Revised and Redrafted), "Overall Objective of the Independent Auditor, and the Conduct of an Audit in Accordance with International Standards on Auditing"	10

#### EXPLANATORY MEMORANDUM

#### Introduction

This memorandum provides background to, and an explanation of, the proposed International Standard on Auditing (ISA) 200 (Revised and Redrafted), "Overall Objective of the Independent Auditor, and the Conduct of an Audit in Accordance with International Standards on Auditing," approved for exposure by the International Auditing and Assurance Standards Board (IAASB) in April 2007.

## **Background**

The amended "Preface to the International Standards on Quality Control, Auditing, Review, Other Assurance and Related Services" (Preface)<sup>1</sup> contains statements about the authority attaching to ISAs, the conventions used by the IAASB in drafting ISAs, and the obligations of auditors who follow those Standards. Because the amended Preface may not be reproduced or adopted in certain jurisdictions, the IAASB is proposing revisions to extant ISA 200, "Objective and General Principles Governing an Audit of Financial Statements" to incorporate the provisions of the amended Preface relevant to ISAs. As part of the revision process, the IAASB considered the most appropriate presentation of the material derived from the amended Preface, and the need for further explanation of that material, in this new context. The title of ISA 200 has been changed to reflect the introduction of the relevant provisions of the amended Preface.

The IAASB considered it equally important that proposed ISA 200 (Revised and Redrafted) contains an adequate discussion of the premises on which an audit is conducted (consistent with proposed ISA 580 (Revised and Redrafted), "Written Representations"), and a brief summary of the nature of an audit of financial statements in order to introduce related concepts. An understanding of the concepts is necessary for a proper understanding of the conduct of an audit so as to achieve its objective, the overall objective of the independent auditor, and the objectives and requirements stated in the ISAs.

The IAASB believes that proposed ISA 200 (Revised and Redrafted) provides a clearer explanation of relevant concepts which should be helpful to auditors and others with an interest in audits and auditing standards. The proposed ISA has been drafted in accordance with IAASB's clarity conventions.

Extant ISA 200 includes guidance on determining the acceptability of the financial reporting framework. This has been moved to ISA 210, "Terms of Audit Engagements" and amended. Extant ISA 200 also includes guidance on expressing an opinion on the financial statements, which has been revised. These changes reflect conforming amendments agreed by the IAASB in 2006 arising from ISA 800 (Revised), "Special Considerations—Audits of Special Purpose Financial Statements and Specific Elements, Accounts or Items of a Financial Statement." Except as described below and

4

The amended Preface was approved by the IAASB in 2006, and is available on the IAASB website at https://web.ifac.org/download/IAASB\_Preface.pdf. The IAASB staff-prepared document, *Basis for Conclusions: Clarity* (also available on the IAASB website), summarizes the more significant issues raised by respondents to the proposed amended Preface exposed in October 2005, and how the IAASB addressed them.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Close off document approved in October 2006.

where necessary as part of the revision process, there are no other substantive changes to the content of extant ISA 200.

## **Significant Proposals**

#### **Preface Provisions**

Proposed ISA 200 (Revised and Redrafted) incorporates relevant provisions of the amended Preface having regard to the context of an ISA and the clarity drafting conventions adopted by the IAASB. Accordingly, the provisions of the amended Preface have been reflected as appropriate within either:

- The Objective and Requirements sections of the proposed ISA, when they related to the obligations of the auditor in conducting an audit in accordance with ISAs. For example, proposed ISA 200 (Revised and Redrafted) establishes as requirements that the auditor shall consider the entire text of an ISA to understand its requirements, and shall comply with the requirements of an ISA in all cases where such requirements are relevant.
- The Application and Other Explanatory Material section of the proposed ISA, as guidance to related requirements, when they described or provided explanation of the content or structure of the ISAs.

Except as explained below, and where necessary for purposes of presentation, proposed ISA 200 (Revised and Redrafted) reproduces the wording contained in the amended Preface.

Obligation Attaching to Objectives

Paragraph 15 of the amended Preface states the following:

"...The auditor aims to achieve these objectives, having regard to the interrelationships amongst the ISAs. For this purpose, the auditor uses the objectives to judge whether, having complied with the requirements of the ISAs, sufficient appropriate audit evidence has been obtained in the context of the overall objective of the auditor. Where an individual objective has not been or cannot be achieved, the auditor considers whether this prevents the auditor from achieving the auditor's overall objective."

Subsequent to the release of the amended Preface, it was represented to the IAASB by some regulators that the wording 'aim to achieve' suggested that the actual achievement of the objectives might be optional. This interpretation drew support from the final sentence of paragraph 15 of the amended Preface which refers not only to cases where an objective 'cannot be achieved,' but also to where it 'has not been achieved.' At the IAASB Consultative Advisory Group meeting in April 2007, the IAASB received strong advice that this impression, which was not intended by the IAASB, should be eliminated.

The reasons for the IAASB's approach in the amended Preface are explained in the IAASB staff-prepared document, *Basis for Conclusions: Clarity*, available on the IAASB website. The IAASB considers that the amended Preface reflected the IAASB's intention, but having regard to the advice received it is concerned to avoid any misinterpretation of the position.

The IAASB therefore proposes that the obligation in the amended Preface be clarified in proposed ISA 200 (Revised and Redrafted), through restating the obligation as follows: (see paragraph 24)

"To achieve the overall objective of the auditor, the auditor shall use the objectives stated in relevant ISAs to judge whether, having regard to the interrelationships amongst the ISAs and having complied with the requirements of the ISAs:

- (a) Sufficient appropriate audit evidence has been obtained in the context of the overall objective of the auditor; and
- (b) Other audit procedures need to be performed in pursuance of the objectives ..."

The consequence of a failure to achieve an objective in a relevant ISA is unchanged in principle from the amended Preface (see last sentence of paragraph 15 of the amended Preface). However, the wording 'has not been or cannot be achieved' has been changed to 'cannot be achieved,' in response to the point made above. In addition, proposed ISA 200 (Revised and Redrafted) makes clear that in most cases the failure to achieve an objective will prevent the achievement of the overall objective of the auditor. This reflects the fact that the objectives stated in the majority of the ISAs are clearly related to the overall objective of the auditor. The proposed ISA also makes clear that the failure to achieve an objective represents a significant matter requiring documentation in accordance with proposed ISA 230 (Redrafted), "Audit Documentation." (See paragraph 25.)

In developing this proposal, the IAASB reconfirmed its view that the auditor cannot be subjected to an absolute obligation to achieve an objective, because of the inherent nature of an objective and the possibility that there may be circumstances that prevent its achievement. However, the IAASB accepted that it must be clear that the auditor shall either achieve the objectives or, where in the circumstances this is not possible, take appropriate action. The IAASB believes that the proposed ISA achieves this.

To enhance the understanding of the requirements derived from the amended Preface, proposed ISA 200 (Revised and Redrafted) contains further explanation of the following:

- The role and purpose of objectives, including the relationship between objectives and requirements.
- The auditor's consideration of objectives, including the need for the auditor to have regard to the interrelationship amongst the ISAs.
- The consequence of a failure to obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence.
- The consequence of a failure to achieve an objective.

Proposed ISA 200 (Revised and Redrafted) and its Relationship to the Amended Preface

Because proposed ISA 200 (Revised and Redrafted) incorporates the provisions of the amended Preface relevant to ISAs, the IAASB intends to remove them from the amended Preface. Instead, the amended Preface would refer readers to ISA 200 (Revised and Redrafted) for the authority attaching to ISAs.

#### **Obtaining Sufficient Appropriate Audit Evidence**

The IAASB is of the view that the overarching bold type requirement in paragraph 2 of extant ISA 500, "Audit Evidence" for the auditor to obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence is a fundamental audit requirement, appropriate for inclusion as a requirement in proposed ISA 200 (Revised and Redrafted). Further, the IAASB believes that including this requirement in the

proposed ISA provides the appropriate context for the requirement that the auditor use objectives to consider whether sufficient appropriate audit evidence has been obtained. Accordingly, the requirement for the auditor to obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence has been moved from extant ISA 500 to proposed ISA 200 (Revised and Redrafted). The repositioning of this requirement from extant ISA 500 is consistent and appropriate with the scope of proposed ISA 500 (Redrafted), "Considering the Relevance and Reliability of Audit Evidence" as a result of redrafting that ISA in accordance with IAASB's clarity conventions.

#### An Audit of Financial Statements, and Related Concepts

To provide the basis for the proper understanding of the overall objective of the auditor and the objectives and requirements of the ISAs, proposed ISA 200 (Revised and Redrafted) discusses the premises on which an audit is conducted, the nature of an audit of financial statements, and related concepts. The following highlights matters relevant to certain of the concepts described in the proposed ISA.

#### Reasonable Assurance

The IAASB has concluded that the definition of reasonable assurance should remain consistent with that included in the Glossary of Terms in the *Handbook of International Auditing, Assurance, and Ethics Pronouncements* published by IFAC, being '...a high, but not absolute, level of assurance ...,' and that that definition should feature in proposed ISA 200 (Revised and Redrafted). The IAASB has agreed that any significant amendment to the discussion of reasonable assurance in proposed ISA 200 (Revised and Redrafted) would necessarily involve a re-examination of the concept. However, the IAASB has previously agreed that work on a conceptual framework (and by implication on such concepts as reasonable assurance) should not form part of the Clarity project or current workload. Further, any further consideration would have to be undertaken in consultation with national standard setters, regulators and other stakeholders through a systematic and broader-based study. This is beyond the scope of the project to clarify and revise extant ISA 200.

The IAASB has therefore not undertaken to change the definition of reasonable assurance. It proposes, however, to amplify some aspects of the discussion of reasonable assurance in proposed ISA 200 (Revised and Redrafted) to help explain further the concept, while not altering its meaning.

#### Inherent Limitations of an Audit

The IAASB is of the view that users' understanding of the nature of an audit, and of the auditor's overall objective of obtaining reasonable assurance, would be enhanced through a fuller discussion of the inherent limitations of an audit. Further, certain commentators have encouraged the IAASB to include discussion of limitations only in ISA 200 and to eliminate discussion of limitations elsewhere. The IAASB agrees that the discussion of limitations in ISA 200 should be comprehensive (in the sense of referring to the principal limitations), so that it should not be necessary to introduce new limitations in other ISAs. However, while the IAASB intends to avoid reference to limitations within other ISAs to the extent possible, there are certain topics to which limitations are especially

-

The IAASB approved in April 2007 the Exposure Draft, proposed ISA 500 (Redrafted). This Exposure Draft is available on the IAASB website at http://www.ifac.org/Guidance/EXD-Details.php?EDID=0080.

relevant (for example, fraud and related parties). Accordingly, in certain ISAs it is necessary to provide further explanation of limitations that are of particular relevance in the context of those ISAs.

The IAASB is of the view that it would be neither appropriate nor practicable to provide a complete list of inherent limitations.

Proposed ISA 200 (Revised and Redrafted) describes the inherent limitations of an audit, in the context of the following principal sources that give rise to them:

- The fundamental nature and characteristics of financial reporting and business processes;
- The nature of audit evidence and procedures; and
- The need for the audit to be conducted within a reasonable period of time and at a reasonable cost.

Sufficiency and Appropriateness of Audit Evidence

Proposed ISA 200 (Revised and Redrafted) addresses the sufficiency and appropriateness of audit evidence as part of its discussion of the concepts relevant to an audit of financial statements. Because this concept is fundamental to the conduct of an audit in accordance with ISAs, the IAASB believes that the benefits of emphasizing it in both the context of proposed ISA 200 (Revised and Redrafted) and proposed ISA 500 (Redrafted) outweigh the disadvantages of repetition.

#### Professional Judgment

The IAASB understands that there is some concern about the potential for professional judgment to be used as a justification for decisions for which no other explanation need be given. The IAASB therefore believes that proposed ISA 200 (Revised and Redrafted) should indicate that professional judgment is something that can be challenged. Proposed ISA 200 (Revised and Redrafted) explains that the exercise of professional judgment may be regarded as reasonable if other experienced auditors can agree that the exercise of professional judgment in any particular case was reasonable based on the facts and circumstances known at the time the judgment was made.

#### **Effective Date**

The current timetable envisages that all ISAs will have been revised and redrafted, or redrafted only, by late 2008 and the IAASB has provisionally agreed that the complete set of ISAs will be effective for audits of financial statements for periods beginning on or after December 15, 2008. This date will depend on satisfactory progress being made, and will be amended to a later date should that prove necessary. The IAASB believes that it is in the interest of auditors and others who use the ISAs that the standards should be released as soon as they are approved so as to facilitate their implementation.

## **Guide for Respondents**

The IAASB welcomes comments on all matters addressed in the exposure draft. Comments are most helpful when they refer to specific paragraphs, include the reasons for the comments and, where appropriate, make specific suggestions for any proposed changes to wording. When a respondent agrees with proposals in this exposure draft (especially those calling for change in current practice), it will be helpful for the IAASB to be made aware of this view.

#### **Comments on Other Matters**

Recognizing that the proposed revised ISA will apply to audits of all sizes and in all sectors of the economy, the IAASB is also interested in comments on matters set out below.

Special Considerations in the Audit of Small Entities

Respondents are asked to comment on whether, in their opinion, considerations in the audit of small entities have been dealt with appropriately in the proposed ISA. Reasons should be provided if not in agreement, as well as suggestions for alternative or additional guidance.

Special Considerations in the Audit of Public Sector Entities

Respondents are asked to comment on whether, in their opinion, special considerations in the audit of public sector entities have been dealt with appropriately in the proposed ISA. Reasons should be provided if not in agreement, as well as suggestions for alternative or additional guidance.

#### **Developing Nations**

Recognizing that many developing nations have adopted or are in the process of adopting the ISAs, the IAASB invites respondents from these nations to comment, in particular, on any foreseeable difficulties in applying the proposed ISA in a developing nation environment. Reasons should be provided, as well as suggestions for alternative or additional guidance.

#### **Translations**

Recognizing that many respondents intend to translate the final ISA for adoption in their own environments, the IAASB welcomes comment on potential translation issues noted in reviewing the proposed ISA.

## **Supplement to the Exposure Draft**

To assist respondents in tracking changes, IAASB staff has prepared an analysis of how the material in the amended Preface relevant to ISAs has been reflected in proposed ISA 200 (Revised and Redrafted).

In addition, IAASB staff has prepared a summary of the objectives for all of the ISAs, in draft or final form as the case may be as of April 2007, to assist respondents in considering the provisions of the proposed ISA. The IAASB is not seeking comments on the objectives included in this staff-prepared document, but as individual exposure drafts are issued will welcome comments on whether the objectives proposed therein are appropriate.

These staff-prepared documents are available on the IAASB website at http://www.ifac.org/Guidance/EXD-Details.php?EDID=0079. They are for information purposes only and do not form part of the exposure draft.

To be considered, responses should be emailed to Edcomments@ifac.org. They may also be faxed to +1-212-286-9570 or mailed to 545 Fifth Avenue, 14th Floor, New York, NY 10017, USA.

# PROPOSED INTERNATIONAL STANDARD ON AUDITING 200 (REVISED AND REDRAFTED)

# OVERALL OBJECTIVE OF THE INDEPENDENT AUDITOR, AND THE CONDUCT OF AN AUDIT IN ACCORDANCE WITH INTERNATIONAL STANDARDS ON AUDITING

(Effective for audits of financial statements for periods beginning on or after [date])\*

#### **CONTENTS**

	Paragraph
Introduction	
Scope of this ISA	1-2
Effective Date	3
Overall Objective of the Independent Auditor	4-6
Preparation of the Financial Statements	7-8
An Audit of Financial Statements, and Related Concepts	9-13
Auditor Independence	14-15
<b>Definitions</b>	16
Requirements	
Ethical Requirements Relating to an Audit of Financial Statements	17
Professional Skepticism	18
Sufficient Appropriate Audit Evidence	19
Conduct of an Audit in Accordance with ISAs	20-29
Application and Other Explanatory Material	
The Objective of an Audit and its Relationship to the Overall Objective of the Auditor	A1
Preparation of the Financial Statements	A2-A8
An Audit of Financial Statements, and Related Concepts	A9-A40
Ethical Requirements Relating to an Audit of Financial Statements	A41
Professional Skepticism	A42
Conduct of an Audit in Accordance with ISAs	A43-A63

<sup>\*</sup> See footnote 1.

#### Introduction

#### Scope of this ISA

- This International Standard on Auditing (ISA) establishes the independent auditor's overall responsibilities when conducting an audit in accordance with ISAs.
- 2. ISAs are written in the context of an audit of financial statements by an independent auditor. They are to be adapted as necessary in the circumstances when applied to audits of other historical financial information.

#### **Effective Date**

3. This ISA is effective for audits of financial statements for periods beginning on or after

## **Overall Objective of the Independent Auditor**

- The objective of an audit of financial statements is to enable the auditor to express an opinion<sup>2</sup> whether the financial statements are prepared, in all material respects, in accordance with an applicable financial reporting framework.
- In conducting the audit so as to achieve its objective, the overall objective of the independent 5. auditor<sup>3</sup> is to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to report on the financial statements in accordance with the auditor's findings. (Ref: Para. A1)
- The objective of an audit cannot be fulfilled unless the auditor achieves the overall objective 6. of the auditor. In all cases when the overall objective of the auditor cannot be achieved, the ISAs require that the auditor modifies the auditor's opinion accordingly or withdraws from the engagement.

#### **Preparation of the Financial Statements**

7. An audit by an independent auditor is premised on the fact that the financial statements subject to audit are those of the entity, prepared and presented by management of the entity with oversight from those charged with governance,<sup>4</sup> with the auditor engaged for purposes of forming and expressing an opinion on them. The audit of the financial statements does not

The form of opinion will depend upon the applicable financial reporting framework and any applicable law or

This date will not be earlier than December 15, 2008.

regulation. Where the applicable financial reporting framework is a fair presentation framework, as is generally the case for general purpose financial statements, the opinion is on whether the financial statements give a true and fair view, or are presented fairly, in all material respects – see ISA 700 (Amended as a Result of ISA 800 (Revised)), "The Independent Auditor's Report on General Purpose Financial Statements." Unless specifically stated otherwise, reference in the ISAs to the auditor's opinion covers both opinions on whether the financial statements give a true and fair view, or are presented fairly, in all material respects, and opinions on compliance with the specific requirements of the applicable financial reporting framework.

Referred to hereafter and in the ISAs as "the auditor" unless the context requires emphasis of independence.

The terms "management" and "those charged with governance" are described in [proposed] ISA 260 (Revised and Redrafted), "Communication with Those Charged with Governance."

- relieve management and those charged with governance of their responsibilities. The auditor is also entitled to expect that management and those charged with governance will make available to the auditor all the information the auditor requires for the purposes of the audit.
- 8. Accordingly, although ISAs do not impose responsibilities on management and those charged with governance and do not override laws and regulations that govern their responsibilities, ISAs are written, and audits are conducted, on the premises that management and, where appropriate, those charged with governance:
  - (a) Acknowledge and understand their responsibility for preparing and presenting the financial statements in accordance with the applicable financial reporting framework (Ref: Para. A2-A8);
  - (b) The role and purpose of objectives, including the relationship between objectives and maintaining internal control relevant to the preparation and presentation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error; and
  - (c) Will provide complete information to the auditor.

#### An Audit of Financial Statements, and Related Concepts

- 9. An audit of financial statements is an assurance engagement. The auditor is engaged for purposes of expressing an opinion designed to enhance the degree of confidence of intended users in the financial statements. As a basis for the opinion, the auditor obtains reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.
- 10. Reasonable assurance, which is required by the ISAs, is a high, but not absolute, level of assurance. It is obtained when the auditor has obtained sufficient appropriate audit evidence to reduce the risk that there is an unidentified material misstatement of the financial statements (i.e., audit risk) to an acceptably low level.
- 11. The ISAs are designed to support the auditor in obtaining reasonable assurance. They require that the auditor exercise professional judgment and skepticism throughout the planning and performance of the audit; and:
  - Identify and assess risks of material misstatement.
  - Obtain audit evidence about whether the risks have given rise to material misstatements in order to reduce audit risk to an acceptably low level.
  - Form an opinion on the financial statements based on conclusions drawn from the audit evidence obtained.
- 12. An audit is not intended to, and cannot, provide a guarantee or absolute assurance, i.e., certainty, that the financial statements are free from material misstatement due to fraud or error. This is primarily because there are inherent limitations of an audit that affect the auditor's ability to detect material misstatements, whether due to fraud or error.
- 13. The following concepts provide the basis for a proper understanding of the overall objective of the auditor and the objectives and requirements of the ISAs:
  - (a) Materiality (Ref: Para. A9)

- (b) Audit risk (Ref: Para. A10-A19)
- (c) Sufficiency and appropriateness of audit evidence (Ref: Para. A20-A23)
- (d) Professional judgment (Ref: Para. A24-A25)
- (e) Professional skepticism (Ref: Para. A26-A27)
- (f) Inherent limitations of an audit. (Ref: Para. A28-A40)

#### **Auditor Independence**

- 14. The auditor is subject to independence and other ethical requirements, which ordinarily comprise Parts A and B of the International Federation of Accountants' Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants related to an audit of financial statements together with national requirements that are more restrictive.
- 15. The concept of independence refers both to the state of mind of the auditor and independence in appearance. The independence of the auditor from the entity whose financial statements are subject to audit safeguards the auditor's ability to form an audit opinion without being affected by influences that might compromise that opinion. Independence enhances the auditor's ability to act with integrity, to be objective and to maintain an attitude of professional skepticism.

#### **Definitions**

- 16. For purposes of the ISAs, the following terms have the meanings attributed below:
  - (a) Applicable financial reporting framework The financial reporting framework adopted by management in preparing and presenting the financial statements that is acceptable in view of the nature of the entity and the objective of the financial statements, or that is required by law or regulation.
    - For purposes of the ISAs, the term "fair presentation framework" is used to refer to a financial reporting framework that requires compliance with the specific requirements of the framework and:
    - (i) Acknowledges explicitly or implicitly that, to achieve fair presentation of the financial statements, it may be necessary for management to provide disclosures beyond the specific requirements of the framework; or
    - (ii) Acknowledges explicitly that, in extremely rare circumstances, it may be necessary for management to depart from a specific requirement of the framework to achieve fair presentation of the financial statements.

The term "compliance framework" is used to refer to a financial reporting framework that requires compliance with the specific requirements of the framework, but does not contain the acknowledgements in (i) or (ii) above.

(b) Audit evidence – All of the information used by the auditor in arriving at the conclusions on which the audit opinion is based.

- (c) Audit risk The risk that the auditor expresses an inappropriate audit opinion when the financial statements are materially misstated.<sup>5</sup>
- (d) Detection risk The risk that the procedures performed by the auditor to reduce audit risk to an acceptably low level will not detect a misstatement that exists and that could be material, either individually or when aggregated with other misstatements.
- (e) Financial statements A structured representation of historical financial information, which ordinarily includes related explanatory notes, intended to communicate an entity's economic resources or obligations at a point in time or the changes therein for a period of time in accordance with a financial reporting framework. The term ordinarily refers to a complete set of financial statements, but can also refer to a single financial statement.<sup>6</sup>
- (f) Historical financial information Information expressed in financial terms in relation to a particular entity, derived primarily from that entity's accounting system, about economic events occurring in past time periods or about economic conditions or circumstances at points in time in the past.
- (g) Misstatement A difference between the amount, classification, presentation, or disclosure of a reported financial statement item and the amount, classification, presentation, or disclosure that is required for the item to be in accordance with the applicable financial reporting framework. Misstatements can arise from error or fraud and may result from:
  - (i) An inaccuracy in gathering or processing data from which the financial statements are prepared;
  - (ii) An omission of an amount or disclosure;
  - (iii) An incorrect accounting estimate arising from overlooking or clear misinterpretation of facts; or
  - (iv) Management's judgments concerning accounting estimates that the auditor considers unreasonable or the selection and application of accounting policies that the auditor considers inappropriate.

When the auditor expresses an opinion on whether the financial statements give a true and fair view or are presented fairly, in all material respects, misstatements also include those adjustments of amounts, classifications, presentation, or disclosures that, in the auditor's judgment, are necessary for the financial statements to give a true and fair view or be presented fairly, in all material respects.

(h) Reasonable assurance – In the context of an audit of financial statements, a high, but not absolute, level of assurance.

This definition does not include the risk that the auditor might express an opinion that the financial statements are materially misstated when they are not.

Examples of a single financial statement, each of which would include related explanatory notes, are: statement of income or statement of operations; statement of cash receipts and disbursements; statement of assets and liabilities that does not include owner's equity; and statement of operations by product lines.

- (i) Risk of material misstatement The risk that the financial statements are materially misstated. This consists of two components, described as follows at the assertion level:
  - (i) Inherent risk The susceptibility of an assertion to a misstatement that could be material, either individually or when aggregated with other misstatements, assuming that there are no related controls.
  - (ii) Control risk The risk that a misstatement that could occur in an assertion and that could be material, either individually or when aggregated with other misstatements, will not be prevented, or detected and corrected, on a timely basis by the entity's internal control.

# Requirements

#### **Ethical Requirements Relating to an Audit of Financial Statements**

17. The auditor shall comply with relevant ethical requirements, including those pertaining to independence, relating to financial statement audit engagements. (Ref: Para. A41)

#### **Professional Skepticism**

18. The auditor shall plan and perform an audit with an attitude of professional skepticism recognizing that circumstances may exist that cause the financial statements to be materially misstated. (Ref: Para. A42)

#### **Sufficient Appropriate Audit Evidence**

19. In order to obtain reasonable assurance, the auditor shall obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence to be able to draw reasonable conclusions on which to base the audit opinion. Reasonable assurance is obtained when the auditor has thereby reduced audit risk to an acceptably low level.

#### Conduct of an Audit in Accordance with ISAs

Complying with ISAs Relevant to the Audit

- 20. The ISAs, taken together, are designed to support the achievement of the overall objective of the auditor. Accordingly, the auditor shall comply with all ISAs relevant to the audit. An ISA is relevant to the audit when the ISA is in effect and the circumstances addressed by the ISA exist. (Ref: Para. A43-A47)
- 21. The auditor shall consider the entire text of an ISA to understand its requirements. The nature of the ISAs requires the auditor to exercise professional judgment in applying them. (Ref: Para. A48-A52)
- 22. The auditor shall not represent compliance with ISAs unless the auditor has complied with all of the ISAs relevant to the audit.

#### Objectives Stated in Individual ISAs

23. Each ISA contains an objective or objectives, which provide the context in which the requirements of the ISA are set. These objectives support the overall objective of the auditor set out in paragraph 5 of this ISA.

- 24. To achieve the overall objective of the auditor, the auditor shall use the objectives stated in relevant ISAs to judge whether, having regard to the interrelationships amongst the ISAs and having complied with the requirements of the ISAs:
  - (a) Sufficient appropriate audit evidence has been obtained in the context of the overall objective of the auditor; and
  - (b) Other audit procedures need to be performed in pursuance of the objectives. (Ref: Para. A53-A56)

The assessment of whether sufficient appropriate audit evidence has been obtained and the other audit procedures, if any, that may be necessary in the circumstances are matters of professional judgment. The proper application of the requirements of the ISAs will ordinarily provide a sufficient basis for the auditor's achievement of the objectives. However, the ISAs cannot anticipate all circumstances that may arise.

25. If an objective in a relevant ISA cannot be achieved, the auditor shall consider whether this prevents the auditor from achieving the overall objective of the auditor thereby requiring the auditor, in accordance with the ISAs, to modify the auditor's opinion accordingly or withdraw from the engagement. In most cases, the failure to achieve an objective will prevent the achievement of the overall objective of the auditor. Failure to achieve an objective represents a significant matter requiring documentation in accordance with [proposed] ISA 230 (Redrafted), "Audit Documentation." (Ref: Para. A57-A60)

#### Applying, and Complying with, Relevant Requirements

- 26. ISAs contain requirements expressed using the word "shall." The requirements are designed to enable the auditor to meet the objectives specified in the ISAs, and thereby the overall objective of the auditor.
- 27. Subject to paragraph 28, the auditor shall comply with the requirements of an ISA in all cases where such requirements are relevant. A requirement is relevant unless, in the circumstances of the audit:
  - (a) The ISA is not relevant; or
  - (b) The circumstances envisioned in the requirement do not apply because the requirement is conditional and the condition does not exist. (Ref: Para. A61-A62)
- 28. In exceptional circumstances, the auditor may judge it necessary to depart from a relevant requirement to achieve the aim of that requirement. In such circumstances, the auditor shall perform alternative audit procedures to achieve the aim of that requirement. The need for the auditor to depart from a relevant requirement is expected to arise only where the requirement is for a specific procedure to be performed and, in the specific circumstances of the audit, that procedure would be ineffective. The auditor need not apply a requirement that is not relevant in the circumstances of the audit; this does not constitute a departure from the requirement. (Ref: Para. A63)
- 29. The auditor shall apply the requirements in the context of the other material included in the ISA.

\* \* \*

# **Application and Other Explanatory Material**

The Objective of an Audit and its Relationship to the Overall Objective of the Auditor (Ref: Para. 5)

A1. The overall objective of the auditor restates the objective of an audit in a way that can more readily be related to the objectives and requirements of the ISAs. For the financial statements to be prepared, in all material respects, in accordance with an applicable financial reporting framework, they must be free from material misstatement. The overall objective of the auditor reflects the fact that the basis for the auditor's opinion is reasonable assurance. The auditor obtains reasonable assurance by reducing audit risk to an acceptably low level, through accumulating and evaluating sufficient appropriate audit evidence. The auditor's opinion on the financial statements is expressed in a written report.

#### Preparation of the Financial Statements (Ref: Para. 8(a))

- A2. As part of its responsibility for preparing and presenting the financial statements, management is responsible for identifying the applicable financial reporting framework, in the context of any relevant law or regulation. Management is also responsible for preparing and presenting the financial statements in accordance with that framework, and adequately describing that framework in the financial statements. Management's responsibility for preparing and presenting the financial statements in accordance with the applicable financial reporting framework includes:
  - Designing, implementing and maintaining internal control relevant to preparing and presenting financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error:
  - Selecting and applying appropriate accounting policies; and
  - Making accounting estimates that are reasonable in the circumstances.
- A3. The financial statements may be prepared in accordance with a financial reporting framework designed to meet:
  - The common financial information needs of a wide range of users (i.e., "general purpose financial statements" prepared in accordance with a "general purpose framework"); or
  - The financial information needs of specific users (i.e., "special purpose financial statements" prepared in accordance with a "special purpose framework").
- A4. The applicable financial reporting framework often encompasses financial reporting standards established by an authorized or recognized standards setting organization, or legislative or regulatory requirements. In some cases the financial reporting framework may encompass both financial reporting standards established by an authorized or recognized standards setting organization and legislative or regulatory requirements. Other sources may provide direction on the application of the applicable financial reporting framework. In some

.

With oversight from those charged with governance.

cases, the applicable financial reporting framework may encompass such other sources, or may even consist only of such sources. Such other sources may include:

- The effect of the legal and ethical environment, including statutes, regulations, court decisions, and professional ethical obligations in relation to accounting matters;
- Published accounting interpretations of varying authority issued by standards setting, professional or regulatory organizations;
- Published views of varying authority on emerging accounting issues issued by standards setting, professional or regulatory organizations;
- General and industry practices widely recognized and prevalent; and
- Accounting literature.

Where conflicts exist between the financial reporting framework and the sources from which direction on its application may be obtained, or amongst the sources that encompass the financial reporting framework, the source with the highest authority prevails.

- A5. The requirements of the applicable financial reporting framework determine the form and content of the financial statements. Although the framework may not specify how to account for or disclose all transactions or events, it ordinarily embodies sufficient broad principles that can serve as a basis for developing and applying accounting policies that are consistent with the concepts underlying the requirements of the framework.
- A6. Some financial reporting frameworks are fair presentation frameworks, while others are compliance frameworks. Financial reporting frameworks that encompass primarily the financial reporting standards established by an organization that is authorized or recognized to promulgate standards to be used by entities for preparing and presenting general purpose financial statements are often designed to achieve fair presentation, for example, International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs).
- A7. The requirements of the applicable financial reporting framework also determine what constitutes a complete set of financial statements. In the case of many frameworks, financial statements are intended to provide information about the financial position, financial performance and cash flows of an entity. For such frameworks, a complete set of financial statements would include a balance sheet; an income statement; a statement of changes in equity; a cash flow statement; and related explanatory notes, comprising a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory notes. For some other financial reporting frameworks, a single financial statement and the related explanatory notes might constitute a complete set of financial statements. For example, the International Public Sector Accounting Standard (IPSAS), "Financial Reporting Under the Cash Basis of Accounting" states that the primary financial statement is a statement of cash receipts and payments when a public sector entity prepares and presents its financial statements in accordance with that IPSAS.
- A8. ISA 210, "Terms of Audit Engagements" establishes requirements and provides guidance on determining the acceptability of the applicable financial reporting framework. ISA 800 (Revised), "Special Considerations—Audits of Special Purpose Financial Statements and

Specific Elements, Accounts or Items of a Financial Statement" contains additional considerations for special purpose frameworks.

#### An Audit of Financial Statements, and Related Concepts

Materiality (Ref: Para. 13(a))

A9. Misstatements in the financial statements can arise from fraud or error. The auditor is responsible for obtaining reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free from material misstatement, but is not responsible for the detection of misstatements that are not material to the financial statements taken as a whole. In general, misstatements, including omissions, are considered to be material if they, individually or in the aggregate, could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of the financial statements. The concept of materiality is used both in planning and performing the audit, and in evaluating the effect of identified misstatements on the financial statements and the related auditor's report, as discussed further in [proposed] ISA 320 (Revised and Redrafted), "Materiality in Planning and Performing an Audit" and [proposed] ISA 450 (Redrafted), "Evaluation of Misstatements Identified during the Audit," respectively.

#### Audit Risk (Ref: Para. 13(b))

A10. Audit risk is the risk that the auditor expresses an inappropriate audit opinion when the financial statements are materially misstated. This risk is a function of the risks of material misstatement and detection risk. Assessment of risks is a judgment rather than a precise measurement. Reasonable assurance is obtained by reducing audit risk to an acceptably low level.

#### Risks of Material Misstatement

- A11. The risks of material misstatement may exist at two levels: at the overall financial statement level, and, in relation to classes of transactions, account balances, and disclosures, at the assertion level.
- A12. Risks of material misstatement at the overall financial statement level refer to risks of material misstatement that relate pervasively to the financial statements as a whole and potentially affect many assertions.
- A13. Risks of material misstatement at the class of transactions, account balance, and disclosure level need to be assessed in order to determine the nature, timing, and extent of further audit procedures necessary to obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence. This enables the auditor to express an opinion on the financial statements taken as a whole at an acceptably low level of audit risk. Auditors use various approaches to accomplish that objective.<sup>9</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> Close off document approved in October 2006.

The auditor may make use of a model that expresses the general relationship of the components of audit risk in mathematical terms to arrive at an appropriate level of detection risk. Some auditors find such a model to be useful when planning audit procedures to achieve a desired audit risk though the use of such a model does not eliminate the judgment inherent in the audit process.

- A14. The risks of material misstatement at the assertion level consist of two components: inherent risk; and control risk. Inherent risk and control risk are the entity's risks; they exist independently of the audit of the financial statements.
- A15. Inherent risk is higher for some assertions and related classes of transactions, account balances, and disclosures than for others. For example, it may be higher for complex calculations or for accounts consisting of amounts derived from accounting estimates that are subject to significant estimation uncertainty. External circumstances giving rise to business risks may also influence inherent risk. For example, technological developments might make a particular product obsolete, thereby causing inventory to be more susceptible to overstatement. In addition to those circumstances that are peculiar to a specific assertion, factors in the entity and its environment that relate to several or all of the classes of transactions, account balances, or disclosures may influence the inherent risk related to a specific assertion. These latter factors include, for example, a lack of sufficient working capital to continue operations or a declining industry characterized by a large number of business failures.
- A16. Control risk is a function of the effectiveness of the design and operation of internal control in achieving the entity's objectives relevant to preparation of the entity's financial statements. Some control risk will always exist because of the inherent limitations of internal control.
- A17. The ISAs do not ordinarily refer to inherent risk and control risk separately, but rather to a combined assessment of the "risks of material misstatement." However, the auditor may make separate or combined assessments of inherent and control risk depending on preferred audit techniques or methodologies and practical considerations. The assessment of the risks of material misstatement may be expressed in quantitative terms, such as in percentages, or in non-quantitative terms. In any case, the need for the auditor to make appropriate risk assessments is more important than the different approaches by which they may be made.

#### **Detection Risk**

- A18. Detection risk relates to the nature, timing, and extent of the auditor's procedures that are determined by the auditor to reduce audit risk to an acceptably low level. It is therefore a function of the effectiveness of an audit procedure and of its application by the auditor. For a given level of audit risk, the acceptable level of detection risk bears an inverse relationship to the assessment of the risks of material misstatement at the assertion level. The greater the risks of material misstatement the auditor believes exists, the less the detection risk that can be accepted. Conversely, the less risks of material misstatement the auditor believes exist, the greater the detection risk that can be accepted.
- A19. Detection risk cannot be reduced to zero because of the inherent limitations of an audit, as described in paragraphs A28 to A40, and other factors. Such other factors include the possibility that an auditor might select an inappropriate audit procedure, misapply an appropriate audit procedure, or misinterpret the audit results. These other factors ordinarily can be addressed through adequate planning, proper assignment of personnel to the engagement team, the application of professional skepticism, and supervision and review of the audit work performed.

Sufficiency and Appropriateness of Audit Evidence (Ref: Para. 13(c))

- A20. Audit evidence is necessary to support the auditor's opinion and report. It is cumulative in nature and is primarily obtained from audit procedures performed during the course of the audit. It may, however, also include information obtained from other sources such as previous audits and a firm's quality control procedures for client acceptance and continuance. Audit evidence comprises both information that supports and corroborates management's assertions, and any information that contradicts such assertions. Most of the auditor's work in forming the audit opinion consists of obtaining and evaluating audit evidence.
- A21. Sufficiency is the measure of the quantity of audit evidence. The quantity of audit evidence needed is affected by the risks of misstatement (the higher the risks, the more audit evidence is likely to be required) and also by the quality of such audit evidence (the higher the quality, the less may be required). Obtaining more audit evidence, however, may not compensate for its poor quality.
- A22. Appropriateness is the measure of the quality of audit evidence; that is, its relevance and its reliability in providing support for, or detecting misstatements in, the financial statements. The reliability of evidence is influenced by its source and by its nature, and is dependent on the individual circumstances under which it is obtained.
- A23. The sufficiency and appropriateness of audit evidence are interrelated. Whether sufficient appropriate audit evidence has been obtained to reduce audit risk to an acceptably low level, and thereby enable the auditor to draw reasonable conclusions on which to base the audit opinion, is a matter for the auditor to determine using professional judgment.

#### Professional Judgment (Ref: Para. 13(d))

- A24. Professional judgment in auditing may be described as the application of relevant knowledge and experience, within the context provided by auditing, accounting and ethical standards, in reaching decisions about the courses of action that are appropriate in the circumstances of the audit engagement. Informed decisions throughout the audit cannot be made without the application of relevant knowledge and experience to the facts and circumstances, in particular regarding decisions about:
  - Materiality and audit risk;
  - The nature, timing and extent of audit procedures used to gather audit evidence;
  - The evaluation of management's judgments in applying the entity's applicable financial reporting framework; and
  - The drawing of conclusions based on the audit evidence obtained, for example, assessing the reasonableness of the estimates made by management in preparing the financial statements.

Professional judgment is therefore essential to the proper conduct of an audit.

A25. Professional judgment is a personal quality, and judgments may therefore differ between experienced auditors. However, training and experience are intended to promote consistency of judgment such that the exercise of professional judgment in any particular case may be regarded as reasonable if other experienced auditors can agree that this is the case. Any such

agreement on whether a judgment is reasonable is based on the facts and circumstances at the time the judgment was made.

#### Professional Skepticism (Ref: Para. 13(e))

- A26. Professional skepticism is an attitude that involves the critical assessment, with a questioning mind, of the validity of audit evidence obtained. It includes recognizing that circumstances may exist that cause the financial statements to be materially misstated, and being alert to audit evidence that contradicts or brings into question the reliability of documents and responses to inquiries and other information obtained from management and those charged with governance. Maintaining an attitude of professional skepticism throughout the audit is necessary if the auditor is, for example, to reduce the risks of overlooking unusual circumstances, of over generalizing when drawing conclusions from audit observations, and of using faulty assumptions in determining the nature, timing and extent of the audit procedures and evaluating the results thereof.
- A27. Maintaining an attitude of professional skepticism is necessary to the critical assessment of audit evidence. However, an audit rarely involves the authentication of documents, nor is the auditor trained as or expected to be an expert in such authentication. Accordingly, unless the auditor has reason to believe the contrary (for example if conditions identified during the audit cause the auditor to believe that a document may not be authentic or that terms in a document have been falsified) the auditor may accept records and documents as genuine.

#### Inherent Limitations of an Audit (Ref: Para. 13(f))

- A28. An audit is undertaken to enhance the degree of confidence of intended users in the financial statements. Based on the conclusions drawn from the audit evidence obtained, the auditor expresses an opinion on the financial statements. However, an audit is not intended to, and cannot, provide a guarantee or absolute assurance (i.e., certainty) that the financial statements are free from material misstatement due to fraud or error. This is because there are inherent limitations of an audit arising from:
  - The fundamental nature and characteristics of financial reporting and business processes;
  - The nature of audit evidence and procedures; and
  - The need for the audit to be conducted within a reasonable period of time and at a reasonable cost.
- A29. An audit is also necessarily limited by its scope and objective, which deal with the expression by the auditor of an opinion on the financial statements. For example, the auditor does not express an opinion on such matters as:
  - The future viability of the entity.
  - The efficiency or effectiveness with which management has conducted the affairs of the entity (including the effectiveness of internal control).
  - The extent of compliance with all laws and regulations that may be applicable to the entity.

- A30. Paragraphs A32-A40 describe the principal inherent limitations of an audit. Other ISAs may provide further explanation of limitations that are of particular relevance to their subject matter, e.g. ISA 240 (Redrafted), "The Auditor's Responsibilities Relating to Fraud in an Audit of Financial Statements" and [proposed] ISA 550 (Revised and Redrafted), "Related Parties."
- A31. The ISAs provide requirements and guidance to assist the auditor in applying professional judgment to mitigate the effect of the inherent limitations of an audit. However, inherent limitations, by their nature, cannot be overcome.

#### Financial Reporting and Business Processes

- A32. There are certain limitations inherent in financial reporting and business processes that neither the entity nor the auditor can overcome. The preparation of financial statements in accordance with the entity's applicable financial reporting framework involves judgment by management in applying the requirements of that framework to the facts and circumstances of the entity. Further, although some financial statement items may be determined on the basis of objective and verifiable facts, others are of a nature such that the related audit evidence available can only be persuasive rather than conclusive, or involve subjective decisions or assessments or a degree of uncertainty relating to the reliability of their measurement; for example, the estimation of the outcome of uncertain events that may only be confirmed in the future and the estimation of amounts reported on the basis of fair value. There may be valid differences in judgment about such matters, and in the case of judgments about future outcomes those outcomes are highly likely to differ from any judgments that are made, however skilled.
- A33. In addition, management designs, implements and maintains internal control to address identified business risks that threaten the achievement of the entity's objectives. The evidence available to the auditor includes information about the entity's internal control. ISAs provide the conditions under which the auditor is required to, or may choose to, test the operating effectiveness of controls in determining the extent of substantive procedures to be performed. However, internal control, no matter how well designed and operated, can only reduce, but not eliminate, risks of material misstatement in the financial statements, because of the limitations inherent in internal control. These include, for example, the possibility of human errors or mistakes, or of controls being circumvented by collusion or inappropriate management override.

#### The Nature of Audit Evidence and Procedures

- A34. The nature of audit evidence is such that it is often persuasive rather than conclusive. There are legal and practical limitations on the auditor's ability to obtain audit evidence; for example, in the absence of legal powers of search which in themselves have limitations it is inevitable that an auditor is dependent on management and others for aspects of the completeness of information. Also, as explained in paragraph A27, an audit rarely involves the authentication of documents.
- A35. Further, the risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than the risk of not detecting one resulting from error. This is because fraud may involve sophisticated and carefully organized schemes designed to conceal it. Therefore, audit

procedures used to gather audit evidence may be ineffective for detecting an intentional misstatement that involves, for example, falsified documentation which may cause the auditor to believe that audit evidence is valid when it is not. Because of this, ISA 240 (Redrafted) contains specific requirements designed to assist the auditor in identifying and assessing the risks of material misstatement due to fraud and in designing procedures to detect such misstatement.

- A36. Although it is often not possible to obtain audit evidence that is conclusive, the auditor is required to obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to reduce audit risk to an acceptably low level.
- A37. Because of the inherent limitations of an audit, there is an unavoidable risk that some material misstatements of the financial statements will not be detected, even though the audit is properly planned and performed in accordance with ISAs. Accordingly, the subsequent discovery of a material misstatement of the financial statements resulting from fraud or error does not, in and of itself, indicate a failure to conduct an audit in accordance with ISAs. Whether the auditor has performed an audit in accordance with ISAs is determined by the audit procedures performed in the circumstances, the sufficiency and appropriateness of the audit evidence obtained as a result thereof and the suitability of the auditor's report based on an evaluation of that evidence.

#### Timeliness of Financial Reporting and the Balance between Benefit and Cost

- A38. The relevance of information, and thereby its value, tends to diminish over time, and there is a balance to be struck between the reliability of information and its cost. <sup>10</sup> There is therefore an expectation by users of financial statements that the auditor will form an opinion on the financial statements within a reasonable period of time and at a reasonable cost. Accordingly, the auditor is not expected to address all information that may exist or to pursue every matter exhaustively on the assumption that information is in error or fraudulent until proved otherwise. To do otherwise would not allow the audited financial statements to be available in time to be relevant or at a reasonable cost. A further consideration is that the evidence gathering process may reach a point of diminishing returns, at which the incremental cost of additional audit evidence increases disproportionately to the incremental benefit obtained. However, the matter of time or cost involved is not in itself a valid basis for the auditor to be satisfied with audit evidence that is less than persuasive.
- A39. Consequently, it is necessary for the auditor to use testing, including sampling, and other means of examining populations for misstatements. Although samples with high levels of confidence can be designed, there is always a risk that the sample is not representative of the population and a material misstatement will fail to be detected. Similarly analytical procedures cannot be designed or performed to a level of precision sufficient to ensure that all material misstatements would be detected.

The International Accounting Standards Board's "Framework for the Preparation and Presentation of Financial Statements" discusses further the constraints of timeliness and the balance between benefit and cost on the provision of relevant and reliable information in the preparation and presentation of financial statements.

A40. Further, for an audit to be efficient and effective within reasonable time and cost constraints, the auditor needs to design an audit approach that focuses audit effort on identifying and assessing risks of material misstatement, and in performing audit procedures in response to the assessed risks. The assessment of risks of material misstatement, however, is a judgment rather than a precise measurement.

#### Ethical Requirements Relating to an Audit of Financial Statements (Ref: Para. 17)

A41. ISA 220, "Quality Control for Audits of Historical Financial Information," sets out the engagement partner's responsibilities with respect to ethical requirements. ISA 220 recognizes that the engagement team is entitled to rely on a firm's systems in meeting its responsibilities with respect to quality control procedures applicable to the individual audit engagement, unless information provided by the firm or other parties suggests otherwise. Accordingly, International Standard on Quality Control (ISQC) 1, "Quality Control for Firms that Perform Audits and Reviews of Historical Financial Information, and Other Assurance and Related Services Engagements," requires the firm to establish policies and procedures designed to provide it with reasonable assurance that the firm and its personnel comply with relevant ethical requirements.

#### Professional Skepticism (Ref: Para. 18)

A42. A belief that management and those charged with governance are honest and have integrity does not relieve the auditor of the need to maintain an attitude of professional skepticism nor does it allow the auditor to be satisfied with less-than-persuasive audit evidence when obtaining reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements, as a whole, are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. Further, although the auditor cannot disregard past experience of the honesty and integrity of the entity's management and those charged with governance, the auditor's attitude of professional skepticism is important because there may have been changes in circumstances.

#### Conduct of an Audit in Accordance with ISAs

Nature of ISAs (Ref: Para. 20)

- A43. ISAs, taken together, provide the standards for the auditor's work in fulfilling the objective of an audit. The ISAs deal with the general responsibilities of the auditor, as well as the auditor's further considerations relevant to the application of those responsibilities to specific topics.
- A44. The scope, effective date and any specific limitation of the applicability of a specific ISA is made clear in the ISA. Unless otherwise stated in the ISA, the auditor is permitted to apply an ISA before the effective date specified therein.
- A45. In performing an audit, the auditor may be required to comply with other professional, legal or regulatory requirements in addition to the ISAs. The ISAs do not override laws and regulations that govern an audit of financial statements. In the event that those laws and regulations differ from the ISAs, an audit conducted only in accordance with laws and regulations will not automatically comply with ISAs.

A46. The auditor may also conduct the audit in accordance with both ISAs and auditing standards of a specific jurisdiction or country. When the auditor conducts the audit in accordance with ISAs and auditing standards of a specific jurisdiction or country, in addition to complying with each of the ISAs relevant to the audit, it may be necessary for the auditor to perform additional audit procedures in order to comply with the relevant standards of that jurisdiction or country.

#### Considerations Specific to Audits in the Public Sector

A47. ISAs are relevant to engagements in the public sector. The public sector auditor's responsibilities, however, may be affected by the audit mandate, or by obligations on public sector entities arising from legislation, regulation, ministerial directives, government policy requirements, or resolutions of the legislature, which may encompass a broader scope than an audit of financial statements in accordance with the ISAs. These additional responsibilities are not dealt with in the ISAs. They may be dealt with in the pronouncements of the International Organization of Supreme Audit Institutions.

#### Contents of ISAs (Ref: Para. 21)

- A48. In addition to objectives and requirements, an ISA contains related guidance in the form of application and other explanatory material. It may also contain introductory material that provides context essential to a proper understanding of the ISA, and definitions.
- A49. The application and other explanatory material is an integral part of the ISA, as it provides further explanation of, and guidance for carrying out, the requirements of an ISA, along with background information on the matters addressed in the ISA. It may include examples of procedures, some of which the auditor may judge to be appropriate in the circumstances. Such guidance is, however, not intended to impose a requirement. When appropriate, additional considerations specific to audits of smaller entities and public sector entities are included within the application and other explanatory material of an ISA.
- A50. Appendices, which form part of the application and other explanatory material, are an integral part of an ISA. The purpose and intended use of an appendix are explained in the body of the related ISA or within the title and introduction of the appendix itself.
- A51. Introductory material may include, as needed, such matters as explanation of:
  - The purpose and scope of the ISA, including how the ISA relates to other ISAs;
  - The subject matter of the ISA;
  - Specific expectations on the auditor and others; and
  - The context in which the ISA is set.
- A52. An ISA may include, in a separate section under the heading 'Definitions', a description of the meanings attributed to certain terms for purposes of the ISAs. These are provided to assist in the consistent application and interpretation of the ISAs, and are not intended to override definitions that may be established for other purposes, whether in law, regulation or otherwise. Unless otherwise indicated, those terms will carry the same meanings throughout the ISAs. The Glossary of Terms relating to International Standards issued by the International Auditing and Assurance Standards Board in the *Handbook of International*

Auditing, Assurance, and Ethics Pronouncements published by IFAC contains a complete listing of terms defined in the ISAs. It also includes description of other terms found in ISAs to assist in common and consistent interpretation and translation.

#### Objectives (Ref: Para. 24)

- A53. The objectives in individual ISAs provide a link between the requirements and the overall objective of the auditor. The objectives are designed to focus the auditor on the desired outcome of the ISA, while being specific enough to assist the auditor in:
  - Understanding what needs to be accomplished and, where necessary, the appropriate means of doing so; and
  - Deciding what more, if anything, needs to be done to achieve the objectives.
- A54. Objectives are to be understood in the context of the inherent limitations of an audit as well as the other concepts relevant to an audit of financial statements set out in paragraph 13 of this ISA. The ability to achieve an individual objective may be limited by circumstances; for example, by a limitation in the available audit evidence. Whether an objective has been, or can be, achieved is a matter for the auditor's professional judgment, including whether other procedures will assist the auditor in doing so.
- A55. In achieving the objectives of the ISAs, the auditor is required to have regard to the interrelationships among the ISAs. This is because of the different nature of the ISAs, which as indicated in paragraph A43 deal in some cases with general responsibilities and in others with the application of those responsibilities to specific topics. For example, this ISA requires the auditor to adopt an attitude of professional skepticism; this is necessary in all aspects of planning and performing an audit but is not repeated as a requirement of each ISA. At a more detailed level, ISA 315 (Redrafted), "Identifying and Assessing the Risks of Material Misstatement Through Understanding the Entity and Its Environment" and ISA 330 (Redrafted), "The Auditor's Responses to Assessed Risks" contain, amongst other things, objectives and requirements that deal with the auditor's responsibilities to identify and assess the risks of material misstatement and to design and perform further audit procedures to respond to those assessed risks, respectively; these objectives and requirements apply throughout the audit. An ISA dealing with specific aspects of the audit (for example, [proposed] ISA 540 (Revised and Redrafted), "Auditing Accounting Estimates, Including Fair Value Accounting Estimates, and Related Disclosures") may expand on how the objectives and requirements of such ISAs as 315 (Redrafted) and 330 (Redrafted) are to be applied in relation to the subject of the ISA but does not repeat them. Thus, in achieving the objective stated in [proposed] ISA 540 (Revised and Redrafted), for example, the auditor has regard to the objectives and requirements of other relevant ISAs.
- A56. The auditor is required to use the objectives to judge whether sufficient appropriate audit evidence has been obtained. If as a result the auditor concludes that the audit evidence is not sufficient and appropriate, then the auditor may follow one or more of the following approaches to meeting the requirement of paragraph 24(a):
  - Evaluate whether further relevant audit evidence has been, or will be, obtained as a result of complying with other ISAs;
  - Extend the work performed in applying one or more requirements; or

• Perform other procedures judged by the auditor to be necessary in the circumstances.

Where none of the above is expected to be practical or possible in the circumstances, the auditor will not be able to obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence and is required to determine the effect on the audit report or on the auditor's ability to complete the engagement.

Achievement of Objectives and the Overall Objective of the Auditor (Ref: Para. 25)

- A57. In most cases, the objectives stated in the ISAs are clearly related to the overall objective of the auditor. The majority of the ISAs deal with one or more of the following:
  - Identifying, assessing and responding to risks of material misstatement;
  - Obtaining sufficient appropriate audit evidence, either in relation to specific aspects of the evidence accumulation process (e.g., audit sampling, in relation to obtaining sufficient audit evidence) or in relation to specific subjects (e.g., accounting estimates);
  - Evaluating the effect of identified misstatements on the financial statements; and
  - Forming an opinion on the financial statements, and reporting.

Accordingly, the failure to achieve those objectives would prevent the auditor from achieving the overall objective of the auditor.

- A58. In a few cases, however, the relationship between the objectives stated in the ISAs and the overall objective of the auditor is indirect. This is the case, for example, with the ISAs that deal with quality control and documentation. Such ISAs are intended to enhance the quality of the audit and to ensure that, in the public interest, the auditor maintains an appropriate record of the basis for the auditor's report. In principle, an auditor could fail to achieve the objectives of such ISAs while nevertheless obtaining reasonable assurance and forming an appropriate opinion about the financial statements. There would, however, be a risk that this would not be the case.
- A59. The auditor may fail to achieve the overall objective of the auditor through being unable to obtain reasonable assurance or through being unable to report. The ISAs deal with these circumstances and include appropriate requirements and guidance for the auditor.
- A60. In those circumstances where the auditor concludes that a failure to achieve an objective in a relevant ISA does not prevent the achievement of the overall objective of the auditor, in accordance with [proposed] ISA 230 (Redrafted) the required documentation would include the basis for the auditor's conclusion and the significant professional judgments made in arriving at that conclusion.

Compliance with Relevant Requirements

Relevant Requirements (Ref: Para. 27)

A61. A requirement is relevant when the ISA is relevant in the circumstances of the engagement. In some cases, an ISA may not be relevant in the circumstances. For example, in a continuing engagement, nothing in ISA 510, "Initial Engagements—Opening Balances," is relevant. Similarly, ISA 800 (Revised) would not be relevant to an audit of general purpose financial statements.

A62. Within a relevant ISA, there may be conditional requirements. Such a requirement is relevant when the circumstances envisioned in the requirement apply and the condition exists. In general, any conditionality of a requirement will be explicit (e.g., the requirement to modify the auditor's opinion where there is a limitation of scope). In some cases, it may be implicit (e.g., the communication of material weaknesses in internal control identified during the audit to management and with those charged with governance, which depends on the existence of identified material weaknesses).

Departure from a Requirement (Ref: Para. 28)

A63. [Proposed] ISA 230 (Redrafted) establishes documentation requirements in those exceptional circumstances where the auditor departs from a requirement.



# **International Federation of Accountants**

545 Fifth Avenue, 14<sup>th</sup> Floor, New York, NY 10017 USA Tel +1 (212) 286-9344 Fax +1 (212) 286-9570 www.ifac.org International
Auditing
and Assurance
Standards Board

**Exposure Draft** 

April 2007

Comments are requested by September 15, 2007

Proposed Redrafted International Standard on Auditing

ISA 500, Considering the Relevance and Reliability of Audit Evidence



International Federation of Accountants

#### **REQUEST FOR COMMENTS**

The International Auditing and Assurance Standards Board (IAASB), an independent standard-setting body within the International Federation of Accountants (IFAC), approved the exposure draft, proposed International Standard on Auditing (ISA) 500 (Redrafted), "Considering the Relevance and Reliability of Audit Evidence," for publication in April 2007. This proposed ISA may be modified in light of comments received before being issued in final form.

Please submit your comments, preferably by email, so that they will be received by **September 15**, **2007**. All comments will be considered a matter of public record. Comments should be addressed to:

International Auditing and Assurance Standards Board
International Federation of Accountants
545 Fifth Avenue, 14<sup>th</sup> Floor
New York, New York 10017 USA

Comments should be emailed to Edcomments@ifac.org. They may also be faxed to +1-212-286-9570 or mailed to the above address.

Copies of the exposure draft may be downloaded free-of-charge from the IFAC website at http://www.ifac.org.

Copyright © April 2007 by the International Federation of Accountants. All rights reserved. Permission is granted to make copies of this work to achieve maximum exposure and feedback provided that each copy bears the following credit line: "Copyright © April 2007 by the International Federation of Accountants. All rights reserved. Used with permission."

# **CONTENTS**

	Page
Explanatory Memorandum	4
Introduction	4
Background	4
Significant Proposals	4
Effective Date	5
Guide for Respondents	5
Supplement to the Exposure Draft	6
Exposure Draft	
Proposed International Standard on Auditing (ISA) 500 (Redrafted), "Considering the Relevance and Reliability of Audit Evidence"	7

#### EXPLANATORY MEMORANDUM

#### Introduction

This memorandum provides background to proposed International Standard on Auditing (ISA) 500 (Redrafted), "Considering the Relevance and Reliability of Audit Evidence." The proposed ISA has been redrafted in accordance with conventions agreed by the International Auditing and Assurance Standards Board (IAASB) to be applied to all ISAs. The IAASB approved the proposed redrafted ISA for exposure in April 2007.

#### **Background**

As part of its project to improve the clarity of its International Standards, the IAASB has undertaken to redraft all of its ISAs in accordance with its new clarity drafting conventions. This approach responds to the desire for all ISAs to be consistently drafted, and subject to a single statement of their authority and effect. The IAASB has agreed, in response to the general call for the Clarity project to be completed within a reasonable time, that while a significant number of the ISAs are under substantive revision as well as redrafting to reflect the new conventions, others will be subject to a limited redrafting to reflect only the conventions and matters of clarity generally. ISA 500 is in the latter category.

The conventions used by the IAASB in redrafting ISA 500 for exposure, and the authority and obligation attaching to those conventions, are established in the amended "Preface to the International Standards on Quality Control, Auditing, Review, Other Assurance and Related Services" (Preface), approved by the IAASB in September 2006.

# **Significant Proposals**

#### **Obtaining Sufficient Appropriate Audit Evidence**

The IAASB is of the view that the overarching bold type requirement in paragraph 2 of extant ISA 500, "Audit Evidence" for the auditor to obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence is a fundamental audit requirement, appropriate for inclusion as a requirement in proposed ISA 200 (Revised and Redrafted), "Overall Objective of the Independent Auditor, and the Conduct of an Audit in Accordance with International Standards on Auditing." Further, the IAASB believes that including this requirement in proposed ISA 200 (Revised and Redrafted) provides the appropriate context for the requirement of that ISA that the auditor use objectives to consider whether sufficient appropriate audit evidence has been obtained.

Accordingly, the requirement for the auditor to obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence has been moved from extant ISA 500 to proposed ISA 200 (Revised and Redrafted) along with supporting Application and Other Explanatory Material. As a result of the repositioning of this requirement,

The Preface can be accessed at http://web.ifac.org/download/IAASB\_Preface.pdf.

The IAASB approved in April the Exposure Draft, proposed ISA 200 (Revised and Redrafted). This Exposure Draft is available on the IAASB website at http://www.ifac.org/Guidance/EXD-Details.php?EDID=0079.

proposed ISA 500 (Redrafted) focuses on the auditor's responsibility to design and perform audit procedures to obtain relevant and reliable audit evidence; it has been re-titled accordingly.

However, to provide the appropriate context for the requirements of proposed ISA 500 (Redrafted), a discussion of the sufficiency and appropriateness of audit evidence, consistent with that in the Application and Other Explanatory Material of proposed ISA 200 (Revised and Redrafted), has been retained in the Introduction to proposed ISA 500 (Redrafted). Because the concept of sufficiency and appropriateness of audit evidence is fundamental to the conduct of an audit in accordance with ISAs, the IAASB believes that the benefits of emphasizing it in both the context of proposed ISA 500 (Redrafted) and proposed ISA 200 (Revised and Redrafted) outweigh the disadvantages of repetition.

#### **Selecting Items for Testing to Obtain Audit Evidence**

As well as dealing with audit sampling, extant ISA 530, "Audit Sampling and Other Means of Testing" includes material dealing with the selection of items for testing by means other than sampling, i.e., selecting all items and selecting specific items. The IAASB is of the view that this material is better placed in proposed ISA 500 (Redrafted) in order to provide a clear focus on sampling in ISA 530.

The IAASB has therefore moved the material regarding selecting all items and selecting specific items from extant ISA 530 to proposed ISA 500 (Redrafted). The IAASB plans to release proposed ISA 530 (Redrafted), "Audit Sampling and Other Means of Testing" before the close of the comment period for proposed ISA 500 (Redrafted) so as to enable respondents to consider the effect of this change on both proposed ISAs. In order to facilitate this, and to provide a comment period consistent with that of proposed ISA 200 (Revised and Redrafted), the comment period for this exposure draft ends on September 15, 2007.

#### **Effective Date**

The current timetable envisages that all ISAs will have been revised and redrafted, or redrafted only, by late 2008 and the IAASB has provisionally agreed that the complete set of ISAs will be effective for audits of financial statements for periods beginning on or after December 15, 2008. This date will depend on satisfactory progress being made, and will be amended to a later date should that prove necessary. The IAASB believes that it is in the interests of auditors and others who use the ISAs that the standards should be released as soon as they are approved so as to facilitate their implementation.

# **Guide for Respondents**

The IAASB is seeking comments **only** on changes resulting from applying the clarity drafting conventions and their effect on the content of the ISA. Respondents are asked to respond in particular to the following questions:

1. Are the objectives to be achieved by the auditor, stated in the proposed redrafted ISA, appropriate?

2. Have the criteria identified by the IAASB for determining whether a requirement should be specified been applied appropriately and consistently, such that the resulting requirements promote consistency in performance and the use of professional judgment by auditors?<sup>3</sup>

Comments are most helpful when they refer to specific paragraphs, include the reasons for the comments, and, where appropriate, make specific suggestions for any proposed changes to wording. When a respondent agrees with proposals in the exposure draft, it will be helpful for the IAASB to be made aware of this view.

#### **Translations**

Recognizing that many respondents intend to translate the final ISA for adoption in their own environments, the IAASB welcomes comment on potential translation issues noted in reviewing the proposed redrafted ISA.

#### **Supplement to the Exposure Draft**

To assist respondents in tracking changes, IAASB staff has prepared an analysis of the decisions that have been made by the IAASB with respect to the treatment of the present tense in the explanatory paragraphs of the extant ISA. This analysis also demonstrates how the material in the extant ISA has been reflected in the proposed redrafted ISA. In particular, the analysis:

- Identifies existing sentences in the present tense and whether they are now treated as a requirement or as application material;
- Maps the material of the extant ISA to the proposed redrafted ISA; and
- Identifies explanatory material that is proposed to be eliminated as a result of redrafting.

These staff-prepared mapping documents are available on the IAASB website at http://www.ifac.org/Guidance/EXD-Details.php?EDID=0080. They are for information purposes only and do not form part of the exposure draft.

To be considered, responses should be emailed to Edcomments@ifac.org. They may also be faxed to +1-212-286-9570 or mailed to 545 Fifth Avenue, 14th Floor, New York, NY 10017, USA.

In determining the requirements of a Standard, the IAASB will consider whether the requirements are proportionate to the importance of the subject matter of the Standard in relation to the overall objective of the engagement.

The criteria, which are intended only to assist the IAASB in appropriately and consistently determining requirements, may be refined as further experience is gained.

The IAASB has identified the following criteria for determining the requirements of a Standard:

<sup>•</sup> The requirement is necessary to achieve the objective stated in the Standard;

<sup>•</sup> The requirement is expected to be applicable in virtually all engagements to which the Standard is relevant; and

<sup>•</sup> The objective stated in the Standard is unlikely to have been met by the requirements of other Standards.

# PROPOSED INTERNATIONAL STANDARD ON AUDITING 500 (REDRAFTED)

#### CONSIDERING THE RELEVANCE AND RELIABILITY OF AUDIT EVIDENCE

(Effective for audits of financial statements for periods beginning on or after [date])\*

#### **CONTENTS**

Audit Evidence		Paragraph
Audit Evidence	Introduction	
Effective Date	Scope of this ISA	1-2
Objective9Definitions10Requirements11-12Information to be Used as Audit Evidence11-12Selecting Items for Testing to Obtain Audit Evidence13Inconsistency in, or Doubts Over Reliability of, Audit Evidence14Application and Other Explanatory MaterialA1-A3Sources of Audit EvidenceA1-A3Audit Procedures for Obtaining Audit EvidenceA4-A19Information to be Used as Audit EvidenceA20-A30	Audit Evidence	3-7
Definitions	Effective Date	8
Requirements  Information to be Used as Audit Evidence	Objective	9
Information to be Used as Audit Evidence	<b>Definitions</b>	10
Selecting Items for Testing to Obtain Audit Evidence	Requirements	
Inconsistency in, or Doubts Over Reliability of, Audit Evidence	Information to be Used as Audit Evidence	11-12
Application and Other Explanatory Material  Sources of Audit Evidence	Selecting Items for Testing to Obtain Audit Evidence	13
Sources of Audit Evidence	Inconsistency in, or Doubts Over Reliability of, Audit Evidence	14
Audit Procedures for Obtaining Audit Evidence	Application and Other Explanatory Material	
Information to be Used as Audit Evidence	Sources of Audit Evidence	A1-A3
	Audit Procedures for Obtaining Audit Evidence	A4-A19
Selecting Items for Testing to Obtain Audit Evidence	Information to be Used as Audit Evidence	A20-A30
	Selecting Items for Testing to Obtain Audit Evidence	A31-A34
Inconsistency in, or Doubts Over Reliability of, Audit Evidence	Inconsistency in, or Doubts Over Reliability of, Audit Evidence	A35

International Standard on Auditing (ISA) 500 (Redrafted), "Considering the Relevance and Reliability of Audit Evidence" should be read in the context of the "Preface to the International Standards on Quality Control, Auditing, Review, Other Assurance and Related Services," which sets out the authority of ISAs.

-

<sup>\*</sup> See footnote 1.

#### Introduction

#### Scope of this ISA

- 1. This International Standard on Auditing (ISA) explains what constitutes audit evidence in an audit of financial statements, and deals with the auditor's responsibility to design and perform audit procedures to obtain relevant and reliable audit evidence.
- 2. This ISA is applicable to all the audit evidence obtained during the course of the audit. Other ISAs deal with specific aspects of the audit, the audit evidence to be obtained, the procedures to be performed in obtaining audit evidence, and the evaluation of whether sufficient appropriate evidence has been obtained.

#### **Audit Evidence**

- 3. Audit evidence is all the information used by the auditor in arriving at the conclusions on which the audit opinion is based. Audit evidence is necessary to support that opinion and the auditor's report. It is cumulative in nature and is primarily obtained from audit procedures performed during the course of the audit. It may, however, also include information obtained from, e.g., previous audits and a firm's quality control procedures for client acceptance and continuance. The entity's accounting records are an important source of audit evidence along with other sources inside and outside the entity. Audit evidence comprises both information that supports and corroborates management's assertions, and any information that contradicts such assertions. (Ref: Para. A1-A3)
- 4. Most of the auditor's work in forming the audit opinion consists of obtaining and evaluating audit evidence. Audit procedures to obtain audit evidence can include inspection, observation, confirmation, recalculation, reperformance and analytical procedures and inquiry, often in some combination. Although inquiry may provide important audit evidence, inquiry alone ordinarily does not provide sufficient audit evidence to detect a material misstatement at the assertion level, nor of the operating effectiveness of controls. (Ref: Para. A4-A19)
- 5. As explained in [proposed] ISA 200 (Revised and Redrafted), "Overall Objective of the Independent Auditor, and the Conduct of an Audit in Accordance with International Standards on Auditing," reasonable assurance is obtained when the auditor has reduced audit risk to an acceptably low level by obtaining sufficient appropriate audit evidence. Sufficiency is the measure of the quantity of audit evidence. The quantity of audit evidence needed is affected by the risks of misstatement (the higher the risks, the more audit evidence is likely to be required) and also by the quality of such audit evidence (the higher the quality, the less may be required). Obtaining more audit evidence, however, may not compensate for its poor quality.
- 6. Appropriateness is the measure of the quality of audit evidence; that is, its relevance and its reliability in providing support for, or detecting misstatements in, the financial statements. The reliability of evidence is influenced by its source and by its nature, and is dependent on the individual circumstances under which it is obtained.
- 7. The sufficiency and appropriateness of audit evidence are interrelated. Whether sufficient appropriate audit evidence has been obtained to reduce audit risk to an acceptably low level,

and thereby enable the auditor to draw reasonable conclusions on which to base the audit opinion, is a matter for the auditor to determine using professional judgment.

#### **Effective Date**

8. This ISA is effective for audits of financial statements for periods beginning on or after [date].<sup>1</sup>

# **Objective**

9. The objective of the auditor is to design and perform audit procedures so as to be able to obtain relevant and reliable audit evidence.

#### **Definitions**

- 10. For purposes of the ISAs, the following terms have the meanings attributed below:
  - (a) Accounting records The records of initial accounting entries and supporting records, such as checks and records of electronic fund transfers; invoices; contracts; the general and subsidiary ledgers, journal entries and other adjustments to the financial statements that are not reflected in formal journal entries; and records such as work sheets and spreadsheets supporting cost allocations, computations, reconciliations and disclosures.
  - (b) Audit evidence All the information used by the auditor in arriving at the conclusions on which the audit opinion is based. Audit evidence includes both information contained in the accounting records underlying the financial statements and other information.
  - (c) Sufficiency The measure of the quantity of audit evidence. The quantity of the audit evidence needed is affected by the risks of material misstatement and also by the quality of such audit evidence.
  - (d) Appropriateness The measure of the quality of audit evidence; that is, its relevance and its reliability in providing support for, or detecting misstatements in, the financial statements.

# Requirements

#### Information to be Used as Audit Evidence

- 11. When designing audit procedures, the auditor shall consider the relevance and reliability of the information to be used as audit evidence. (Ref: Para. A20-A27)
- 12. When information used by the auditor for purposes of the audit was produced by the entity, the auditor shall evaluate whether the information is sufficiently reliable for the auditor's purposes, including as necessary in the circumstances:
  - (a) Obtaining audit evidence about the accuracy and completeness of the information;

This date will not be earlier than December 15, 2008.

(b) Evaluating whether the information is sufficiently precise or detailed for the auditor's purposes. (Ref: Para. A28-A30)

#### **Selecting Items for Testing to Obtain Audit Evidence**

- 13. When designing tests of controls and tests of details, the auditor shall determine means of selecting items for testing that are effective in meeting the purpose of the audit procedure. The means available to the auditor are:
  - (a) Selecting all items (100% examination);
  - (b) Selecting specific items; and
  - (c) Audit sampling. (Ref: Para. A31-A34)

#### Inconsistency in, or Doubts Over Reliability of, Audit Evidence

14. When audit evidence obtained from one source is inconsistent with that obtained from another, or the auditor has doubts over the reliability of information to be used as audit evidence, the auditor shall determine what modifications to or additional audit procedures are necessary to resolve the matter. (Ref: Para. A35)

\* \* \*

### **Application and Other Explanatory Material**

#### Sources of Audit Evidence (Ref: Para. 3)

- A1. Management is responsible for the preparation of the financial statements based upon the accounting records of the entity. Some audit evidence is obtained by performing audit procedures to test the accounting records, e.g., through analysis and review, reperforming procedures followed in the financial reporting process, and reconciling related types and applications of the same information. Through the performance of such audit procedures, the auditor may determine that the accounting records are internally consistent and agree to the financial statements.
- A2. More assurance is ordinarily obtained from consistent audit evidence obtained from different sources or of a different nature than from items of audit evidence considered individually. For example, corroborating information obtained from a source independent of the entity may increase the assurance the auditor obtains from evidence existing within the accounting records or from representations made by management.
- A3. Information from sources independent of the entity that the auditor may use as audit evidence may include confirmations from third parties, analysts' reports, and comparable data about competitors (benchmarking data).

#### Audit Procedures for Obtaining Audit Evidence (Ref: Para. 4)

A4. As required by, and explained further in ISA 315 (Redrafted), "Identifying and Assessing the Risks of Material Misstatement Through Understanding the Entity and Its Environment" and

ISA 330 (Redrafted), "The Auditor's Responses to Assessed Risks" audit evidence to draw reasonable conclusions on which to base the audit opinion is obtained by performing:

- (a) Risk assessment procedures; and
- (b) Further audit procedures, which comprise:
  - (i) Test of controls; and
  - (ii) Substantive procedures, including tests of details and substantive analytical procedures.
- A5. The audit procedures described in paragraphs A8-A19 below may be used as risk assessment procedures, tests of controls or substantive procedures, depending on the context in which they are applied by the auditor. As explained in ISA 330 (Redrafted), audit evidence obtained from previous audits may, in certain circumstances, provide appropriate audit evidence where the auditor performs audit procedures to establish its continuing relevance.
- A6. The nature and timing of the audit procedures to be used may be affected by the fact that some of the accounting data and other information may be available only in electronic form or only at certain points or periods in time. For example, source documents, such as purchase orders and invoices, may exist only in electronic form when an entity uses electronic commerce, or may be discarded after scanning when an entity uses image processing systems to facilitate storage and reference.
- A7. Certain electronic information may not be retrievable after a specified period of time, e.g., if files are changed and if backup files do not exist. Accordingly, an entity's data retention policies may require the auditor to request retention of some information for the auditor's review or to perform audit procedures at a time when the information is available.

#### Inspection

- A8. Inspection involves examining records or documents, whether internal or external, in paper form, electronic form, or other media, or a physical examination of an asset. Inspection of records and documents provides audit evidence of varying degrees of reliability, depending on their nature and source and, in the case of internal records and documents, on the effectiveness of the controls over their production. An example of inspection used as a test of controls is inspection of records for evidence of authorization.
- A9. Some documents represent direct audit evidence of the existence of an asset, for example, a document constituting a financial instrument such as a stock or bond. Inspection of such documents may not necessarily provide audit evidence about ownership or value. In addition, inspecting an executed contract may provide audit evidence relevant to the entity's application of accounting policies, such as revenue recognition.
- A10. Inspection of tangible assets may provide reliable audit evidence with respect to their existence, but not necessarily about the entity's rights and obligations or the valuation of the assets. Inspection of individual inventory items ordinarily accompanies the observation of inventory counting.

#### Observation

A11. Observation consists of looking at a process or procedure being performed by others, e.g., the auditor's observation of inventory counting by the entity's personnel, or of the performance of control activities. Observation provides audit evidence about the performance of a process or procedure, but is limited to the point in time at which the observation takes place, and by the fact that the act of being observed may affect how the process or procedure is performed. See ISA 501, "Audit Evidence—Additional Considerations for Specific Items" for further guidance on observation of the counting of inventory.

#### Inquiry

- A12. Inquiry consists of seeking information of knowledgeable persons, both financial and non-financial, throughout the entity or outside the entity. Inquiry is used extensively throughout the audit as a complement to other audit procedures. Inquiries may range from formal written inquiries to informal oral inquiries. Evaluating responses to inquiries is an integral part of the inquiry process.
- A13. Responses to inquiries may provide the auditor with information not previously possessed or with corroborative audit evidence. Alternatively, responses might provide information that differs significantly from other information that the auditor has obtained, e.g., information regarding the possibility of management override of controls. In some cases, responses to inquiries provide a basis for the auditor to modify or perform additional audit procedures.
- A14. Although corroboration of evidence obtained through inquiry is often of particular importance, in the case of inquiries about management intent, the information available to support management's intent may be limited. In these cases, understanding management's past history of carrying out its stated intentions with respect to assets or liabilities, management's stated reasons for choosing a particular course of action, and management's ability to pursue a specific course of action may provide relevant information about management's intent.
- A15. In respect of some matters, the auditor is required to obtain written representations from management to confirm responses to oral inquiries. See [proposed] ISA 580 (Revised and Redrafted), "Written Representations" for further guidance.

#### Confirmation

A16. Confirmation is a specific type of inquiry that is the process of obtaining a representation of information or of an existing condition directly from a third party. Confirmations are frequently used in relation to account balances and their components. For example, the auditor may seek direct confirmation of receivables by communication with debtors. However, confirmations need not be restricted to these items. For example, the auditor may request confirmation of the terms of agreements or transactions an entity has with third parties; the confirmation request is designed to ask if any modifications have been made to the agreement and, if so, what the relevant details are. Confirmations also are used to obtain audit evidence about the absence of certain conditions, e.g., the absence of a "side agreement" that may influence revenue recognition. See ISA 505, "External Confirmations" for further guidance.

#### Recalculation

A17. Recalculation consists of checking the mathematical accuracy of documents or records. Recalculation can be performed manually or electronically.

#### Reperformance

A18. Reperformance involves the auditor's independent execution of procedures or controls that were originally performed as part of the entity's internal control.

#### Analytical Procedures

A19. Analytical procedures consist of evaluations of financial information made by a study of plausible relationships among both financial and non-financial data. Analytical procedures also encompass the investigation of identified fluctuations and relationships that are inconsistent with other relevant information or deviate significantly from predicted amounts. See ISA 520, "Analytical Procedures" for further guidance.

#### Information to be Used as Audit Evidence

Relevance and Reliability (Ref: Para. 11)

A20. As noted in paragraph 3, while audit evidence is primarily obtained from audit procedures performed during the course of the audit, it may also include information obtained from other sources such as, e.g., previous audits, and a firm's quality control procedures for client acceptance and continuance. The quality of all audit evidence is affected by the relevance and reliability of the information upon which it is based.

#### Relevance

- A21. Relevance deals with the logical connection with, or bearing upon, the purpose of the audit procedure and, where appropriate, the assertion under consideration. Considering the relevance of information to be used as audit evidence includes considering the direction of testing. For example, if the purpose of an audit procedure is to test for overstatement of accounts payable, testing the recorded accounts payable may be appropriate. On the other hand, when testing for understatement of accounts payable, testing the recorded accounts payable is not appropriate but testing such information as subsequent disbursements, unpaid invoices, suppliers' statements, and unmatched receiving reports may be appropriate.
- A22. A given set of audit procedures may provide audit evidence that is relevant to certain assertions, but not others. For example, inspection of documents related to the collection of receivables after the period end may provide audit evidence regarding existence and valuation, but not necessarily cutoff. On the other hand, the auditor often obtains audit evidence from different sources or of a different nature that is relevant to the same assertion.

#### Reliability

A23. Due to the fact that the reliability of information to be used as audit evidence, and therefore of the audit evidence itself, is influenced by its source and its nature, and the circumstances under which it is obtained, including the controls over its preparation and maintenance where

relevant, generalizations about the reliability of various kinds of audit evidence are subject to important exceptions. Even when information to be used as audit evidence is obtained from sources external to the entity, circumstances may exist that could affect its reliability. For example, information obtained from an independent external source may not be reliable if the source is not knowledgeable. While recognizing that exceptions may exist, the following generalizations about the reliability of audit evidence may be useful:

- The reliability of audit evidence is increased when it is obtained from independent sources outside the entity.
- The reliability of audit evidence that is generated internally is increased when the related controls, including those over their preparation and maintenance, imposed by the entity are effective.
- Audit evidence obtained directly by the auditor (e.g., observation of the application of a control) is more reliable than audit evidence obtained indirectly or by inference (e.g., inquiry about the application of a control).
- Audit evidence in documentary form, whether paper, electronic, or other medium, is more reliable than evidence obtained orally (e.g., a contemporaneously written record of a meeting is more reliable than a subsequent oral representation of the matters discussed).
- Audit evidence provided by original documents is more reliable than audit evidence
  provided by photocopies or facsimiles, or documents that have been filmed, digitized
  or otherwise transformed into electronic form, the reliability of which may depend on
  the controls over their preparation and maintenance.
- A24. The auditor's consideration of the reliability of audit evidence rarely involves the authentication of documentation. ISA 240 (Redrafted), "The Auditor's Responsibilities Relating to Fraud in an Audit of Financial Statements," deals with circumstances where the auditor has reason to believe that a document may not be authentic, or may have been modified without that modification having been disclosed to the auditor.
- A25. Test of controls are designed to evaluate the operating effectiveness of controls in preventing, or detecting and correcting, material misstatements at the assertion level. Designing tests of controls to obtain relevant audit evidence includes identifying conditions (characteristics or attributes) that indicate performance of a control, and deviation conditions which indicate departures from adequate performance. The presence or absence of those conditions can then be tested by the auditor.
- A26. Substantive procedures are designed to detect material misstatements at the assertion level. They comprise tests of details and substantive analytical procedures. Designing substantive procedures includes identifying conditions relevant to the purpose of the test that constitute a misstatement in the relevant assertion.
- A27. When designing tests of controls and tests of details, the auditor may need to make an assessment of the expected rate of deviation or expected misstatement in the population to be tested.

Information Produced by the Entity and Used for Audit Purposes (Ref: Para. 12)

- A28. In order for the auditor to obtain reliable audit evidence, information produced by the entity that is used for performing audit procedures needs to be sufficiently complete and accurate. For example, the effectiveness of auditing revenue by applying standard prices to records of sales volume is affected by the accuracy of the price information and the completeness and accuracy of the sales volume data. Similarly, if the auditor intends to test a population (e.g., payments) for a certain characteristic (e.g., authorization), the results of the test will be less reliable if the population from which items are selected for testing is not complete.
- A29. Obtaining audit evidence about the accuracy and completeness of such information may be performed concurrently with the actual audit procedure applied to the information when obtaining such audit evidence is an integral part of the audit procedure itself. In other situations, the auditor may have obtained audit evidence of the accuracy and completeness of such information by testing controls over the preparation and maintenance of the information. In some situations, however, the auditor may determine that additional audit procedures are needed.
- A30. In some cases, the auditor may intend to use information produced by the entity for other audit purposes. For example, the auditor may intend to make use of the entity's performance measures for the purpose of analytical procedures, or to make use of the entity's information produced for monitoring activities, such as internal auditor's reports. In such cases, the appropriateness of the audit evidence obtained is affected by whether the information is sufficiently precise or detailed for the auditor's purposes. For example performance measures used by management may not be precise enough to detect material misstatements.

### Selecting Items for Testing to Obtain Audit Evidence (Ref: Para. 13)

A31. An effective test provides appropriate audit evidence to an extent that, taken with other audit evidence obtained or to be obtained, will be sufficient for the auditor's purpose. In selecting items for testing, the auditor is required by paragraph 11 to determine the relevance and reliability of information to be used as audit evidence; the other aspect of effectiveness (sufficiency) is an important consideration in selecting items to test. The application of any one or combination of the means of selecting items for testing identified in paragraph 13 may be appropriate depending on the particular circumstances, e.g., the risks of material misstatement related to the assertion being tested, and the practicality and efficiency of the different means.

#### Selecting All Items

- A32. The auditor may decide that it will be most appropriate to examine the entire population of items that make up a class of transactions or account balance (or a stratum within that population). 100% examination is unlikely in the case of tests of controls; however, it is more common for tests of details. 100% examination may be appropriate when, e.g.:
  - The population constitutes a small number of large value items;
  - There is a significant risk and other means do not provide sufficient appropriate audit evidence: or

• The repetitive nature of a calculation or other process performed automatically by an information system makes a 100% examination cost effective.

#### Selecting Specific Items

- A33. The auditor may decide to select specific items from a population. In making this decision, factors that may be relevant include the auditor's understanding of the entity, the assessed risks of material misstatement, and the characteristics of the population being tested. The judgmental selection of specific items is subject to non-sampling risk. Specific items selected may include:
  - *High value or key items*. The auditor may decide to select specific items within a population because they are of high value, or exhibit some other characteristic, e.g., items that are suspicious, unusual, particularly risk-prone or that have a history of error.
  - All items over a certain amount. The auditor may decide to examine items whose recorded values exceed a certain amount so as to verify a large proportion of the total amount of a class of transactions or account balance.
  - *Items to obtain information*. The auditor may examine items to obtain information about matters such as the nature of the entity or the nature of transactions.
- A34. While selective examination of specific items from a class of transactions or account balance will often be an efficient means of obtaining audit evidence, it does not constitute audit sampling. The results of audit procedures applied to items selected in this way cannot be projected to the entire population; accordingly, selective examination of specific items does not provide audit evidence concerning the remainder of the population. Audit sampling, on the other hand, is designed to enable conclusions to be drawn about an entire population on the basis of testing a sample drawn from it. Audit sampling is discussed in ISA 530, "Audit Sampling and Other Means of Testing."

#### Inconsistency in, or Doubts Over Reliability of, Audit Evidence (Ref: Para. 14)

A35. Obtaining audit evidence from different sources or of a different nature may indicate that an individual item of audit evidence is not reliable, such as when audit evidence obtained from one source is inconsistent with that obtained from another. This may be the case when, for example, responses to inquires of management, internal audit, and others are inconsistent, or when responses to inquiries of those charged with governance made to corroborate the responses to inquiries of management are inconsistent with the response by management.



545 Fifth Avenue, 14<sup>th</sup> Floor, New York, NY 10017 USA Tel +1 (212) 286-9344 Fax +1 (212) 286-9570 www.ifac.org IFAC - Latest News 第 1 頁,共 3 頁





Sign Up!



IFAC: News & Events: Latest News



# **News & Events**

# **Latest News**

FOR IMMED
For Furthei
Helene Kennedy +1(Mobile) +1heleneken
Bryan Hall +1brya

# IAASB Makes Further Progress on Clarification of its Auditing Standards

(New York/May 01, 2007) -- To enhance the quality and consistency audits, the International Auditing and Assurance Standards Board (IAASB), an independent standard-setting board under the auspices the International Federation of Accountants (IFAC), is continuing to advance its project to clarify its auditing standards. At its meeting in 2007, the IAASB approved for public comment exposure drafts of proposed International Standard on Auditing (ISA) 200 (Revised and Redrafted), Overall Objective of the Independent Auditor, and the Conduct of an Audit in Accordance with International Standards on Auditing; proposed ISA 250 (Redrafted), The Auditor's Responsibilit Relating to Laws and Regulations in an Audit of Financial Statemen and proposed ISA 500 (Redrafted), Considering the Relevance and Reliability of Audit Evidence. These have all been redrafted in accordance with the IAASB's new drafting conventions designed to enhance the clarity of its pronouncements.

# Overall Objective of the Independent Auditor, and the Conduct an Audit in Accordance with ISAs

The *Preface to the International Standards on Quality Control, Audit Review, Other Assurance and Related Services* (Preface) was reiss in January 2007 to reflect the effect of the new drafting conventions being used for the purposes of ISAs. It contains important statementabout the authority of ISAs and the obligations of auditors who follow those standards. Because the amended Preface may not be adopte certain jurisdictions, the IAASB decided that these statements shoul incorporated within the ISAs themselves. Accordingly, proposed ISA 200 (Revised and Redrafted) incorporates the provisions of the amended Preface relevant to ISAs.

The proposed ISA also describes the nature of an audit of financial statements and related concepts that provide the basis for a proper understanding of the conduct of an audit, the overall objective of the auditor, and the objectives and requirements stated in the ISAs.

"The proposed standard provides a clearer explanation of relevant

concepts which should be helpful to auditors and others with an inte in audits and auditing standards. By incorporating the relevant provisions of the Preface into this ISA, we hope to give them greate prominence and to ensure that the obligation of auditors using ISAs follow all their requirements is directly imposed through the standard themselves," states John Kellas, IAASB Chairman.

#### **Status of the Clarity Project**

The proposed ISAs have been drafted in accordance with the IAASI new drafting conventions. These conventions include the specification of an objective within each ISA and separate sections for requireme and application and other material. With the release of the exposure draft of proposed ISA 200 (Revised and Redrafted), the IAASB has issued a complete list of the objectives to be contained in each ISA the information of respondents. These are subject to revision as relevant exposure drafts are developed and exposed for comment.

The IAASB has now issued four final ISAs drafted in accordance with the new conventions and, including the three just released, 15 expodrafts of ISAs. The IAASB expects to issue a further 15 exposure drafts year, and to complete all 34 ISAs as final standards by the end 2008. As a result of this project, 21 extant ISAs will have been fully revised or updated and redrafted in the last five years and the rema 11 will have been redrafted in accordance with the new conventions providing more clarity as to their requirements and thereby improvin the consistency of their application.

Further information on the Clarity project may be obtained from http://www.ifac.org/IAASB/downloads/IAASB\_Clarity\_Status\_Repor

#### **How to Comment**

Comments on the exposure drafts of proposed ISA 200 (Revised ar Redrafted) and proposed ISA 500 (Redrafted) are requested by **September 15, 2007**. The comment period for proposed ISA 500 (Redrafted) is tied to that of proposed ISA 200 (Revised and Redraf because it is proposed that the requirement of extant ISA 500 for the auditor to obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence be transferred proposed ISA 200 (Revised and Redrafted).

Comments on the exposure draft of proposed ISA 250 (Redrafted) a requested by **July 31, 2007**.

The exposure drafts may be viewed by going to <a href="http://www.ifac.org/">http://www.ifac.org/</a> Comments should be submitted by email to <a href="mailto:EDComments@ifac.org">EDComments@ifac.org</a> They may also be faxed to IAASB ED Comments, at +1-212-286-95 or mailed to IAASB ED Comments at 545 Fifth Avenue, 14th Floor, York, NY 10017, USA. All comments will be considered a matter of public record and will ultimately be posted on the IFAC website.

#### About the IAASB and IFAC

The objective of the IAASB is to serve the public interest by setting I quality auditing and assurance standards and by facilitating the convergence of international and national standards, thereby enhan the quality and uniformity of practice throughout the world and

strengthening public confidence in the global auditing and assurance profession. The Public Interest Oversight Board oversees the activit of the IAASB and, as one element of that oversight, establishes its coprocess and working procedures.

IFAC is the worldwide organization for the accountancy profession dedicated to serving the public interest by strengthening the profess and contributing to the development of strong international economi IFAC is comprised of 155 members and associates in 118 countries representing more than 2.5 million accountants in public practice, education, government service, industry and commerce. In addition setting international auditing and assurance standards through the IAASB, IFAC, through its independent standard-setting boards, sets international ethics, education, and public sector accounting standard also issues guidance to encourage high quality performance by professional accountants in business.

Further information about IAASB may be obtained from its website: <a href="http://www.iaasb.org">http://www.iaasb.org</a>. The PIOB website address is <a href="http://www.ipiob">http://www.ipiob</a>

Copyright © International Federation of Accountants. All rights reserved.

Any person accessing this site agrees to the <u>Terms of Use</u>.

IFAC | 545 Fifth Avenue, 14th Floor | New York, NY 10017 | V: +1 (212) 286-9344 | F: +1 (212) 286-9570